
Dorset Health and Wellbeing Board
Date: Wednesday, 11 November 2020
Time: 2.00 pm
Venue: To be held as a Teams Meeting
Membership: (Quorum 5) 
Rebecca Knox (Chairman), Forbes Watson (Vice-Chairman), Vivienne Broadhurst, 
Sam Crowe, Spencer Flower, Tim Goodson, Margaret Guy, Theresa Leavy, Laura Miller, 
Patricia Miller, John Sellgren, Tanya Stead, James Vaughan, Seth Why, Simon Wraw and 
Simone Yule

Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, South Walks House, South Walks Road, 
Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1UZ (Sat Nav DT1 1EE)

For more information about this agenda please contact Helen Whitby  01305 224187 - 
helen.whitby@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

For easy access to the Council agendas and minutes download the free 
public app Mod.gov for use on your iPad, Android and Windows tablet. Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council.

 
Due to the current coronavirus pandemic the Council has reviewed its approach to holding 
committee meetings. Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting and listen 
to the debate by using the following link https://youtu.be/ceLJZ5gFqFw

Please note that public speaking has been suspended.  However Public Participation will 
continue by written submission only.  Please see detail set out below. 

Dorset Council is committed to being open and transparent in the way it carries out 
its business whenever possible.  A recording of the meeting will be available on the 
council’s website after the event. 

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/ceLJZ5gFqFw


A G E N D A

Page No.

1  APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence.

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest. 

3  MINUTES 5 - 10

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 23 September 2020.

4  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

To receive questions or statements on the business of 
the committee from town and parish councils and 
members of the public.

Please note that public speaking has been suspended 
during the 
Covid-19 crisis. Each question or statement is limited to 
no more than 
450 words and must be electronically submitted to 
helen.whitby@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk by the deadline set 
out below. The question or statement will be read out by 
an officer of the Council and a response will be sent to 
the person submitting the question or statement following 
the meeting. 

All questions/statements and the responses will be 
published in full within the minutes of the meeting.

The deadline for submission of the full text of a question 
or statement is 8.30am on Friday, 6 November 2020.

5  OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT

To receive an update on the COVID-19 situation in Dorset and 
response being overseen by the Dorset Health Protection Board.



6  UPDATE ON A PHYSICAL ACTIVITY STRATEGY FOR DORSET 11 - 18

To consider a report by the Director of Public Health.

7  DRAFT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY 19 - 30

To consider a report by the Director of Public Health.

8  LOCAL GOVERNMENT SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN SEND 
PROGRESS REPORT

31 - 44

To consider a report by the Executive Director of People - Children, 
Dorset Council.

9  SAFEGUARDING ADULTS BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 45 - 104

To consider a report by the Independent Chairman of the Board.

10  STANDING REFERENCE TO WELL-BEING AND HEALTH 
IMPLICATIONS ON COMMITTEE REPORTS

The Chairman to update members on the new Dorset Council report 
template.

11  DELAYED TRANSFERS OF CARE PERFORMANCE DURING 
COVID-19 (HOME FIRST)

105 - 110

To consider a report introduced by the Interim Executive Director of 
People - Adults, Dorset Council.

12  URGENT ITEMS

To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall 
be recorded in the minutes.

13  EXEMPT BUSINESS

To move the exclusion of the press and the public for the following 
item in view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the 
meaning of paragraph 3 of schedule 12 A to the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended). 

The public and the press will be asked to leave the meeting whilst the 



item of business is considered.



DORSET COUNCIL - HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON WEDNESDAY 23 SEPTEMBER 2020

Present: Rebecca Knox (Chairman), Forbes Watson (Vice-Chairman), 
Broadhurst, Alan Clevett, Sam Crowe, Spencer Flower, Tim Goodson, 
Margaret Guy, Theresa Leavy, Laura Miller, John Sellgren, James Vaughan, 
Seth Why, Eugine Yafele and Simone Yule

Officers present (for all or part of the meeting):
Paul Iggulden (Public Health Consultant), Jane Horne (Consultant in Public 
Health), Emily Merrell (Public Health Management Programme Lead, Dorset 
Clinical Commissioning Group), Rachel Partridge (Assistant Director of Public 
Health) and Chris Skelly (Service Manager – Healthcare Public Health and 
Intelligence)

1.  Election of Chairman

It was proposed by Cllr Spencer Flower and seconded by Seth Why and that 
Cllr Rebecca Knox be elected Chairman for the remainder of the year 
2020/21.

Decision
That Cllr Rebecca Knox be elected Chairman for the remainder of the year 
2020/2021.

2.  Appointment of Vice-chairman

It was proposed by Cllr Rebecca Knox and seconded by John Sellgren that 
Forbes Watson be appointed Vice-chairman for the remainder of the year 
2020/21.

Decision
That Forbes Watson be appointed Vice-chairman for the remainder of the 
year 2020/21.

3.  Apologies

Apologies for absence were received from Patricia Miller.  Eugene Yafele 
attended in her absence.

4.  Terms of Reference

The Committee considered its terms of reference.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2

It was suggested that the terms of reference be amended to take into account 
the Board's duties with regard to outbreak engagement.  This was agreed.  It 
was also suggested that this be a standing item on future agendas. 

Recommendation
That the Board's terms of reference be amended to reflect its duties with 
regard to outbreak engagement.

Decision
That an item mon outbreak engagement be put on all future agendas.

5.  Declarations of Interest

No declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests were made at the meeting.

6.  Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 24 June 2020 were confirmed.  The 
Chairman would sign them at the earliest opportunity.

7.  Public Participation

There were not questions or statements from Town and Parish Councils and 
members of the public.

8.  COVID-19 Communications Strategy and the role of the Local 
Outbreak Engagement Board

The Board considered a report by the Director of Public Health which provided 
an update on the development of a Communications Strategy to support the 
Dorset Council COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan and COVID-19 
Local Outbreak Engagement Board.

The Director of Public Health drew attention to the need for clear 
communications particularly given the current situation of increasing cases of 
COVID-19 so that the public were clear about what they were being asked to 
do in order to stay safe and protect others.  Most residents had complied with 
the guidance but there had also been some confusion. The report set out the 
new Communications Strategy for outbreak management. The report also set 
out the role of the Trusted Voices Project.

Members spoke in support of the Strategy.  The possible role of the Fire and 
Rescue Service to access places not accessible to others was highlighted and 
the need to protect Dorset as much as possible.  

Cases of COVIC-19 remained low in Dorset, compared to a worsening 
situation elsewhere so it was a question of having an appropriate balance and 
reinforcement of the message that self-isolation was necessary even when 
feeling well because of putting others at risk.  The support of Board members 
would help ensure the right messages were sent.

Page 6



3

The Board noted that the Government had issued a clear message that 
penalties were to be strengthened and enforced.  This had to be done 
proportionately in order to not lose public support.  

The Chairman referred to local action cards and asked whether they needed 
to be updated.  The Director of Public Health explained that the cards were for 
use by officers involved in the day to day response and covered essential 
actions.  The six highest risk cards had been identified for Dorset and the right 
connections made for each.  A message about key themes and actions was to 
be circulated to partners shortly.

Decisions
(a) That the development of the Dorset Council COVID-19 Local Outbreak 
management Plan (LOMP) Communications Strategy be noted.
(b) That the key role the Local Outbreak Engagement Board will play in 
responding to future outbreaks/incidents as highlighted by exercises under the 
LOMP be noted.
(c) That key members of the Engagement Board share their learning from the 
table-top exercise due to run on 16 September 2020.

9.  Update on Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

The Board received a joint presentation from the Public Health Consultant and the 
Service Manager – Healthcare Public Health and Intelligence which provided an 
update on the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA).

The presentation explained the JSNA's uses; that it was underpinned by data;  that 
the aim was to understand local needs through combining the data with narrative; the 
plans for the JSNA year ahead; the new JSNA webpages; the data repository; 
insights informing change; and emerging themes (complex need,  effective 
partnerships, inflexible processes and communications).

Members welcomed the wealth of information coming forward and its timeliness.  
Given the current pressure on resources, this would help embed a proper approach 
to early prevention and help people with their health and wellbeing and help reduce 
pressures on primary care.

The Voluntary Sector representative highlighted that the relationship with the Council 
was better than ever and offered to give a presentation to the next meeting and 
offered to help Public Health in any way.

The Service Manager – Healthcare Public Health and Intelligence asked members to 
contact him if they wanted help form his team.  He would put them in contact with the 
right person.

The Chairman thanked officers for their presentation and asked for an update at the 
next meeting to see whether there had been any interaction with Board members and 
moves towards positive outcomes. 

There would also be a paper on discharge to assess at the next meeting.

Decisions
1.   That an update be provided for the Board's next meeting.

Page 7



4

2.   That a report on discharge to assess would be provided for the Board's next 
meeting.

10.  COVIS-19  Population Health Management

The Board received a joint presentation from the Public Health Management 
Programme Lead and the Executive Locality Team representative on 
population health management: COVID-19 actionable insights to support 
integrated care system reset and recovery.

The presentation explained population health management, the Dorset 
Intelligence and Insights Service, how intelligence could be used to 
understand the needs of different groups, COVID-19 focussed insights, 
examples of how it could be used to benefit the population, and social 
prescribing. 

Data was continually being updated and provided a joined-up view of 
population needs.  A link to the insights content page would be provided for 
members following the meeting and they were invited to feedback comments 
when they had used it.  Access to this resource was on request.

Members welcomed this development which had proven useful during the 
COVID period in providing links across systems so that numbers in hospitals, 
primary care, care homes and personal protective equipment stocks could be 
checked daily.  It provided the metrics for population health management, an 
opportunity to tackle issues as a systems response, an opportunity to shape 
services to best meeting people's needs, could be used to tackle inequalities, 
could be used to shape future strategies, might help with the home first 
agenda and help people maintain their independence, health and wellbeing.

The Chairman highlighted the need for this to be shared with all Dorset 
Council directorates and noted that it was being rolled out across NHS 
networks.  It was time now for this to be shared with partners.

The Chairman thanked the Public Health Management Programme Lead and 
the Executive Locality Team representative for their interesting presentation.

11.  Appointments to the Dorset Local Nature Partnership

The Board was reminded that Dr David Haines had previously represented 
the Board on the Dorset Local Nature Partnership.  As he had now retired the 
Board were asked to appoint another member to sit on the Partnership and a 
reserve member.

Members were keen that this link was continued as part of the preventative 
agenda. No particular expertise was needed and an induction programme for 
the appointees would be arranged.

The Service Manager – Healthcare Public Health and Intelligence was 
interested to be part of the Partnership but was not a Board member.  It as 

Page 8



5

also suggested that the Dorset Council's new Lead Members might also want 
to be involved.

As no Board members came forward for the appointments, the Chairman 
agreed to hold this position temporarily, The Chairman, Vice-Chairman, 
Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care and Health and the Executive Director of 
Place would discuss how the appointments could be taken forward.

Decision
1.   That the Chairman be appointed to the Dorset Local Nature Partnership 
temporarily.
2.   That the Chairman, Vice-Chairman, Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care 
and Health and the Executive Director of Place discuss how the appointments 
could be taken forward.

12.  Urgent items

There was no urgent business.

13.  Exempt Business

There was no exempt business.

Duration of meeting: 2.00  - 3.55 pm

Chairman

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Dorset Health and Wellbeing Board
11 November 2020
Update on a Physical Activity Strategy for 
Dorset

Portfolio Holder: Cllr L Miller, Adult Social Care and Health

Local Councillor(s): All

Executive Director: S Crowe, Director of Public Health 
 

Report Author: Charlotte Coward | Rupert Lloyd | Paul Iggulden
Title: Deputy Chief Executive| Project coordinator | Public 

Health  Consultant
Tel: 01305 224400
Email: ccoward@activedorset.org | 

R.T.Lloyd@dorsetcc.gov.uk  | 
paul.iggulden@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk | 

Report Status:  Public

Recommendation: It is recommended that the Board:

a) Note the delays to this strategy development arising from the 
coronavirus pandemic

b) Agree the proposed approach to developing the physical activity 
strategy as set out in Appendix 1

Reason for Recommendation:  

The approach to developing and implementing the Physical Activity Strategy for 
Dorset set out in the update paper, provide a robust partnership approach 
towards sustainable improvements in levels of physical activity across Dorset. 

1. Executive Summary 

During January 2020 partners working across the Dorset ICS, in particular the 
two Health and Wellbeing Boards, agreed to develop a strategy to tackle 
inactivity in Dorset. The original timescales for this work were delayed due to the 
impact of coronavirus, as such we have used this time to reappraise our next 
steps.

Page 11

Agenda Item 6

mailto:ccoward@activedorset.org
mailto:R.T.Lloyd@dorsetcc.gov.uk
mailto:paul.iggulden@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


This summary report outlines the assessment of current activity levels in Dorset 
and our proposed approach to developing the strategy following consultation with 
many of the key partners.  The physical activity strategy will take the physical 
activity priorities identified in ‘Our Dorset Looking Forward’ and the two health 
and wellbeing strategies, engaging partners to identify what actions they can take 
to promote physical activity, so it becomes embedded as ‘business as usual’.

2. Financial Implications

None to date. It is anticipated that where implementation activities require 
resources these will be met from a combination of seeking grant funding (from for 
example Sport England) and use of current operational budgets. 

3. Climate implications

Some positive impact can be anticipated through the promotion of active travel.

4. Other Implications

None

5. Risk Assessment

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has 
been identified as:
Current Risk: Low
Residual Risk: Low

6. Equalities Impact Assessment

Implementation of the resulting Strategy can be anticipated to have a positive 
impact on equalities; one of two key themes running through the strategy will 
be a focus on inequalities. 

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix 1 – Update from Active Dorset on a Physical Activity Strategy for 
Dorset

Page 12



Footnote:
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities 
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is 
included within the report.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 – Update from Active Dorset on a Physical Activity Strategy for Dorset

Update on a Physical Activity Strategy for 
Dorset

1. Introduction 

During January 2020 partners working across the Dorset ICS, in particular the two Health 
and Wellbeing Boards, agreed to develop a strategy to tackle inactivity in Dorset. The 
original timescales for this work were delayed due to the impact of coronavirus, as such we 
have used this time to reappraise our next steps.

This summary report outlines the assessment of current activity levels in Dorset and our 
proposed approach to developing the strategy following consultation with many of the key 
partners.  The physical activity strategy will take the physical activity priorities identified in 
‘Our Dorset Looking Forward’ and the two health and wellbeing strategies, engaging 
partners to identify what actions they can take to promote physical activity so it becomes 
embedded as ‘business as usual’. 

2. The current situation  

2.1. Population Trends

Below are some key statistics on levels of activity and inactivity in Dorset, these are trends 
over time. Data is taken from the Active Lives Survey (ALS). ALS is the largest survey of its 
kind, measuring activity levels of people across England, published twice a year by Sport 
England)

 

*inactive adults are defined as an adult doing less than 30 minutes of activity per week. 
**inactive children are defined as children doing less than 30 minutes of activity a day.

81,000 inactive* adults in Dorset

83,000 inactive* adults in BCP

14,000 inactive** children and young people Dorset

22,000 inactive** children and young people BCP

£6.5 million
Cost of inactivity to 

Dorset CCG per year

321,632 Number of people in Dorset 
and BCP with 1 or more long term health 

condition.

People with a long-term condition 
are twice as likely to be inactive

Page 15



Appendix 1 – Update from Active Dorset on a Physical Activity Strategy for Dorset

2.2. Impact of Coronavirus

A great deal of the data reflects activity levels during the initial 
lockdown period in the spring and early summer. Nationally and 
locally there is a great deal of concern about the challenges people 
will face to accessing activity in the winter months as weather, local 
or activity specific restrictions and concern/anxiety impact in 
combination.

2.3. Key Points

The need to raise the profile of this area of work was noted at both BCP and Dorset Council 
Health and Wellbeing Boards in January 2020 with Physical Activity identified as a priority.  
Physical activity is also identified as a key priority in both ‘Our Dorset Looking Forward’ and 
the BCP Health and Wellbeing Strategy. However there requires greater detail on how we 
work together to make changes across the Dorset system to affect behaviour, increasing 
activity levels, achieving a shift in culture so that business as usual empowers residents to 
be active. 

3. What changes we need to make and how?

As highlighted above, ICS partners have shared a commitment to embedding physical 
activity through a system change approach across Dorset. Reviewing the work 
undertaken to date, and emerging national strategy from DCMS and Sport England, we 
propose taking this work forward to develop the physical activity strategy under the 
following 5 areas identified by Sport England;

1. Foundations for an active society (children and young people)
2. Connecting physical activity and sport to health
3. Active environments
4. Leading a movement for movement
5. Building back better

Two key themes will frame our approach to these 5 areas:

 A focus on inequalities 
 Ensuring physical activity in all policies

We suggest that by aligning our Dorset approach to this emerging Sport England 
strategy, this will provide us with the best opportunity to attract additional national funding 
to Dorset, providing additional resource to embed our approach. However, as part of 
planning next steps consideration needs to be given to what works best at the ICS ‘Our 
Dorset’ level, and where separate Local Authority level plans will best reflect and meet 
local needs. How can local plans be revitalised to improve policies and processes to 
promote or embed physical activity that support system wide change? How can we work 
at scale - all doing “our bit” rather than this being seen as someone else’s problem? What 
are the impacts of inactivity on the system within our ‘business as usual’?

Page 16



Appendix 1 – Update from Active Dorset on a Physical Activity Strategy for Dorset

4. Our Next Steps
A target of Spring 2021 for strategy launch is dependent on a number of factors not in our 
control, including the shift to online engagement for discovery phase and the availability of 
key strategic stakeholders to attend workshops.

Active Dorset and PHD are keen to work with partners to progress the planned next steps. 
We look forward to discussion and feedback at the board meeting, in particular on:

-  the proposed approach to developing a physical activity strategy
- Securing engagement and participation of key stakeholders

Engagement

(Autumn 2020)

Identification of key 
stakeholders and engaging 
with them to secure their 
participation  

 We will draw on our stakeholder mapping to engage 
with potential participants across systems and 
organisations to raise the profile of the approach we 
are developing, secure commitment to participating 
and potentially open the door to resources.   

Discovery 

(Winter 2020/21) 

Online workshops with key 
stakeholders to identify 
opportunities for system 
change drawing on their 
areas of expertise/influence. 

 Workshops will be based on ‘discovery groups’ 
convened to focus on each of the five areas identified 
by Sport England. 

 We will draw in key stakeholders who can provide both 
insights on their area of expertise/influence and 
commit to actions that will ensure the physical activity 
strategy delivers change. These groups will follow a 
system thinking process developed by PHD to: 
 Map and share understanding of what individual 

stakeholders do that shapes physical activity levels 
across Dorset

 Identify the barriers and enablers of physical 
activity in the daily lives of people in Dorset 

 Identify actions for addressing the barriers to 
physical activity and harnessing the energy of 
existing enablers or ‘levers’ for increasing levels of 
physical activity in Dorset uncovered through the 
discovery phase. 

Building the strategy 

(Spring 2021)

Drawing on better 
understanding of our 
challenges and opportunities 
to plan shared action for 
increasing physical activity. 

 Collating intelligence and insight from discovery phase 
and reflecting this back to stakeholders. 

 Prioritise system opportunities and actions
 Planning implementation 
 Outlining a shared vision for physical activity across 

Dorset in 10 years’ time. Our intention is to achieve a 
significant shift in culture through whole system 
change, this will be driven by a programme of smaller 
system changes monitored and tracked by a steering 
group.

Page 17



Appendix 1 – Update from Active Dorset on a Physical Activity Strategy for Dorset

Making it happen

Maintaining action and 
commitment 

 Creating a Dorset movement for movement. We will 
support participating stakeholders to form a steering 
group who will jointly own the strategy, maintain 
oversight, and hold one-another to account to 
implement the change prioritised in the strategy.

Page 18



Dorset Health and Wellbeing Board
11 November 2020
Draft Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr L Miller, Adult Social Care and Health

Local Councillor(s): All

Executive Director: S Crowe, Director of Public Health 
 

Report Authors: Sam Crowe | Paul Iggulden | Lucy Mears
Title: Director of Public Health | Public Health Consultant | 

Communications Officer
Tel: 01305 224400
Email: sam.crowe@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

paul.iggulden@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk  
lucy.mears@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

Report Status:  Public

Recommendation: It is recommended that the Board:

a) Consider and approve the draft Strategy
b) Discuss the points detailed in the Executive Summary below

Reason for Recommendation:  

The priorities within the strategy will provide a focus over the period on actions to 
improve health and wellbeing and reduce inequalities that exist within Dorset 
Council area.

1. Executive Summary 

A new Strategy for the period 2020 – 2023 is required to set priorities and 
direction for the Health and Wellbeing Board and partners across the Dorset 
Integrated Care System. 

The attached draft identifies three priority themes for the strategy:

1. Empowering communities
2. Promoting healthy lives
3. Support and challenge

Page 19

Agenda Item 7

mailto:sam.crowe@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:paul.iggulden@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:lucy.mears@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


It is suggested that the Board consider the following key points in relation to this 
strategy:

1. Priority 1 – what are the priority geographical areas of focus?

2. Priority 2 – can we agree a focus on Physical activity for the period of this 
strategy?

3. Priority 3 – are the Board in agreement on the suggested focus on SEND?

4. Overall – to agree governance arrangements for progressing the Strategy.

2. Financial Implications

None to date. It is anticipated that where implementation activities require 
resources these will be met from a combination of seeking grant funding and use 
of current operational budgets. 

3. Climate implications

Some positive impact can be anticipated through the promotion of active travel 
as part of the Physical Activity Strategy.

4. Other Implications

None

5. Risk Assessment

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has 
been identified as:
Current Risk: Low
Residual Risk: Low

6. Equalities Impact Assessment

Implementation of the resulting Strategy can be anticipated to have a positive 
impact on equalities; the empowering communities theme will identify areas of 
highest need to improve healthy life expectancy and health inequalities is one 

Page 20



of two key themes running through the Physical Activity focus of the promoting 
healthy lives theme. 

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix 1 – Draft Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Dorset, 2020 - 2023

Footnote:
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities 
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is 
included within the report.

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Health and wellbeing strategy 
2020-2023

Dorset Council

October 2020
Page 23



The Dorset Council Health and
Wellbeing Board presents an
opportunity to join up local
services, create new partnerships
for prevention and deliver greater
democratic accountability. 

The purpose of the board is to
improve health and wellbeing and
reduce health inequalities. The
board takes the lead in making sure
all organisations consider how best
to deliver prevention at scale.
 
The board is made up of people
from a range of organisations,
including council officers and
elected members, NHS officers,
local GPs from the Dorset Clinical
Commissioning Group and
representatives from the police,
fire and rescue service and
voluntary sector.
 

Increase healthy life expectancy,
currently 64 years for males and 67
for females (actual life expectancy
is 81 years for men and 84 years
for women)

Make sure all partners and
communities work effectively
together to improve health and
wellbeing, especially for those
most disadvantaged and make best
use of our resources

Make sure that all children and
young people have opportunities to
have the best start in life 

Make sure, in all the board does, we
recognise and address the climate
emergency.

The Health and Wellbeing Board uses
development sessions and formal
business meetings to drive work
forward and meet the following aims:

Role of
the board

Page 24



When the Health and Wellbeing
Board met in 2019 and early 2020,
we discussed its critical role in
delivering the council’s corporate
strategy, and how we will engage
partners to help us to deliver the
corporate vision and objectives for
the benefit of our communities.

Since March, the pandemic has
caused disruption to life locally,
nationally and globally and has
affected our lives like nothing
before. We have kept our themes and
priority areas under review to ensure
they reflect the changing situation.

Empowering communities
Promoting healthy lives
Support and challenge

Dorset Council has a local outbreak
management plan which sets out how
local agencies will identify, respond to
and contain any local outbreaks.
Alongside its usual role, the board has
an important part to play in overseeing
this plan.

The health and wellbeing strategy
focuses on three priorities:

As part of our priority to promote
healthy lives, we will focus our efforts
on physical activity.

The current
context

Quote from Cllr Rebecca Knox to be
added

Councillor Rebecca Knox,
Chair of the Dorset Council

Health and Wellbeing Board

Page 25



Overall life expectancy for men and
women in Dorset is higher than the
England average. There is local variation,
of 11.4 years for men and 16.4 years for
women between the most and
least deprived areas. 
 
Healthy life expectancy, based on how
long people are expected to live in self-
reported good health, is higher for men
and women in Dorset than the England
average. Overall, the time between
healthy life expectancy and overall life
expectancy is 16.9 years for men and
17.6 years for women.
 
12.8% of children in Dorset live in low
income households. This ranges from
2.3% in Lower Tarrants to 46% in
Underhill ward. 
 
Dorset averages 47,000 emergency
hospital admissions each year. The
standardised admissions ratio (England
is 100, above 100 indicates higher than
average) ranges from 68 in Lyme Regis
and Charmouth to 134 in Grange.

Collectively agree priority
communities which will
likely focus on Weymouth
and Portland with other
areas to be considered as
the work develops
Develop an engagement
plan with each community 
Develop a partnership
framework which secures
the contribution of all
relevant partners in each
local area
Develop, with local
communities, effective
ways to understand the
impact of our work using
established measures

Priority one - engaging with
and empowering communities
of highest need to improve
healthy life expectancy

We will work with partners to:

Empowering
communities

Wareham Men's Shed Project

Page 26



Promoting
healthy lives

Learn from best practice
Develop a programme of
engagement to gain commitment
to actions 
Evaluate impacts over time

Priority two - set priorities to
accelerate work promoting healthy
lives and wellbeing

The board's intention was to set
annual themes for promoting
healthy lives. Due to COVID-19 we
have decided for the remainder of
the strategy period to focus on
physical activity to ensure more
time to embed plans and make an
impact.

We will:

Our key theme is physical activity.

"If exercise were a pill, it would be one of
the most cost-effective drugs ever
invented," says Dr Nick Cavill, a health 
promotion consultant.

Over 320,000 people across the county
of Dorset have at least one long term
health condition. We know that people
with long term health conditions are
twice as likely to be inactive.

The cost of inactivity to NHS Dorset
Clinical Commissioning Group is
estimated to be £6.5 million per year.

Due to COVID-19, there has been
significant disruption in the physical
activity behaviours of adults and children
in England. Emerging data is showing a
decline in activity levels related to
changes to patterns of behaviour. The
number of adults in Dorset who are
inactive has risen by 5,000 and the
number of inactive children and young
people has rise by 26,000 as a result of
the pandemic.

Health walks

Page 27



SEND: In the Dorset Council area there are
1,793 children and young people aged 0-19
with a statement of educational need (SEN) or
an Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP).
The gender split in Dorset is 74% male and
26% female.  However, census data shows a
more even burden of long term illness and
disability between males and females,
particularly those aged 15 to 24 years. 

Children and young people with a statement of
SEN or EHCP tend to do less well academically
than their peers across all phases of
education. In Dorset, there are particular
challenges at Key Stage 2. In 2017, 16% of
Dorset pupils with SEN support achieved the
expected standards in reading, writing and
maths compared to 21% nationally. For those
with a statement of SEN or EHC plan the
Dorset figure was 7%, compared to 8%
nationally.   

Research by the Department for Education
(2011) states that disabled young people are
less satisfied with their lives than their peers.

Improve outcomes for children,
young people and young adults who
have special educational needs and
disabilities (SEND)
Ensure that safeguarding
arrangements for children and
vulnerable adults are effective
Ensure that the significant structural
changes in local NHS services
deliver improved outcomes for local
communities
Improve outcomes for local people
through closer integration between
health and social care services 

Priority three - provide governance and
support to our partners, prioritising
the delivery of key partnership
outcomes

We will work with partners to:

Support and
challenge

Our Vision: Children and young people with SEND have confidence in the support they receive. We
work together to give them the best chance to succeed; enjoy family life and go to school as close
to home as possible. We support them to maximise their potential at home, in early years, at
school and at college and to prepare well for adulthood. Our young adults with SEND have
opportunities to work, live independently, participate in their community and live full, healthy lives. 

Page 28



Measuring
impacts

Improving health and wellbeing in
communities of highest need
The impacts of partnership working
on our key themes
Progress in increasing healthy life
expectancy

Measuring impacts is an important
element of the work of the board and
its partners. The board will work with
partner agencies to understand and
agree which indicators can be used to
track progress in our work.

The board will consider how to
measure each element of the plan
most effectively to demonstrate the
impact to local people.

This will include: 

Expected outcomes

People living in our priority

communities will have more

opportunities to access support to

improve their health and wellbeing,

and lead healthier lives.

We will support more people to look

after their mental health, preventing

the build up of serious mental health

problems. 

For those who need further mental

health support, we will support more

people to access the services they

need. 

We will also promote the importance

of physical activity to improve

mental health as well as reducing

risk of serious illnesses such as

cancer, heart disease and now

COVID-19.

Volunteering gardening project,
Poole

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Dorset Health and Wellbeing Board
11 November 2020
LGSCO SEND progress update

Choose an item.

Portfolio Holder: Cllr A Parry, Children, Education, Skills and Early Help

Local Councillor(s):  

Executive Director: T Leavy, Executive Director of People - Children
 

Report Author: Mark Blackman
Title: Corporate Director for Education and Learning
Tel: 01305 228241
Email: mark.blackman@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk

Report Status:  Public

Recommendation:

The committee receive and note the contents of the report.

Reason for Recommendation:     

The report is a follow up to previously reported progress against the LGSCO 
SEND outcome. 

1. Executive Summary 

This report is an update to the actions following the LGSCO SEND report 
18-016-599 dated 15 August 2019. This report followed an investigation 
undertaken by the LGSCO into the specific circumstances surrounding the 
provision arranged by Dorset County Council for one young person. This 
included several wider systemic issues that were highlighted in previous 
LGSCO cases in relation to the predecessor County Council. Local 
Government and Social Care Ombudsman decision summary 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-
016-599

Previous LGSCO judgments had criticised the County Council for:

Page 31

Agenda Item 8

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-016-599
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/education/special-educational-needs/18-016-599


Delays in issuing EHCPs (Education Health and Care Plan) within the 
appropriate 20 week timescale. 

Delay in securing school places or alternative provision when this was 
required. 

The reports highlighted specific actions that were required. 

In the specific case 18-016-599 the actions included financial 
compensation to the family, the award of specific funds to benefit the 
education of the young person which would be deployed through co-
production work with the family. There was a further requirement to 
improve procedures and staff training in how to manage matters around 
the production of EHCPs and the associated provision of education 
places. The required actions, including an apology to the family were 
completed within the appropriate timescale set out in the judgement. 

This report considers the subsequent work undertaken in Children’s 
Serivces to improve the experience of families and young people who 
need SEND support.  

2. Financial Implications

Adverse LGCSO judgements usually require a financial compensation to 
the young person and family, alongside the reputational risk to the council. 
Whilst the individual sums awarded are not large the consequential work 
necessary to provide the right support for a family can often be 
significantly larger than the sum required were the right provision in place 
from the start. 

  
3. Climate implications

The circumstances of these cases illustrate why there are climate change 
implications to be considered in everything Dorset Council does. It is not 
possible to meet the additional needs of some children at schools close to 
their home. Appropriate provision can involve specialist placements 
necessitating a significant need to travel.              

4. Other Implications

5. Risk Assessment

Page 32



Having considered the risks associated with this work, the level of risk has 
been identified as:
Current Risk: MEDUIM
Residual Risk: MEDIUM

There are currently around 2800 open EHCPs for children in Dorset. Each 
one requires specific and itemised provision to be made. In addition, 
around 50 requests for new plans are received each month, requiring 
assessment and provision to be made in a specific timescale. With this 
scale of work and the need to work with partner agencies on provision 
there remains risk of not meeting either a specific milestone or quality of 
outcome. 

It has been recognised by OFSTED (February 2019) and the DfE (October 
2019) that time scales for EHCP plans have significantly improved, 
thereby reducing the delay in issuing EHCPs. The work done by Dorset 
Council was considered by Ofsted in their October 2020 visit where they 
were assessing the experience of young people during the Coronavirus 
pandemic. The formal feedback from this is awaited at the time of this 
report being written. 

6. Equalities Impact Assessment

Children with Education Health and Care plans or those requiring 
additional support due to their special educational needs are 
disadvantaged without the correct and timely provision being available to 
them. 

7. Appendices

8. Background Papers

9. Since the original judgement above was received Children’s Services has 
undertaken a substantial change programme. The structure of the service 
has moved to a locality based model, seeking to work closer with families 
and young people. 

10. Dorset Children Thrive is our new model for delivering Children’s Services 
in Dorset, which started on 1 September 2020. The new model brings 
together many services and support for children and families into six 
integrated locality teams across Dorset, supported by a central team of 
specialist services. 

Page 33



11. The locality teams bring together colleagues from across Early Help, 
Children’s Social Care, Educational Psychology, SEND and Inclusion 
services under the leadership of new Heads of Locality and Strategy that 
link together with our CCG Health partners. The areas reflect our existing 
Family Partnership Zones.

12. Through the new integrated structure, colleagues work in multi-agency 
integrated teams with a line manager for their locality. Matrix management 
arrangements (where staff report and consult with more than one person) 
are used so everyone in the team has access to the specialist support 
they need.

13. The key outcome for our SEND children and young people, is that the 
practitioner support they are receiving through our graduated approach is 
based locally, in a team that have closer familiarity with the educational 
settings and coordinated across education, health and care. 

14. The new model in Children’s Services commits to the following key areas:
a. Every child is different and unique - we will take a person-centred 

approach that emphasises the importance of working with our 
education community to enable children, young people and their 
families to enhance their learning. Person-centred planning is a 
cornerstone of our joint working approach and will enable us to 
work with children and their families to coproduce solutions that 
make a real difference. 

b. We will ensure that children and young people can be supported 
within a school setting through an agreed graduated response and 
in an inclusive way that creates safe, engaging and exciting 
learning environments where they thrive. 

c. We will strengthen our education system from early years through 
to Post-16 provision and strong transitions will be key to ensuring 
every child receives the best possible education. We will work 
together as an education community to ensure that every child 
receives a positive learning experience and makes progress. 

d. Where children require an EHCP we will ensure this is of high 
quality, person centred and co-produced with children and their 
families.  

e. We will strengthen our multi-agency working in our education 
community. Collaboration across our education community through 
a mutually supportive culture will be key to our success. The 
sharing of information and working together on strategies across 
our community has helped us target need to our most vulnerable 
children, in particular at a time of crisis, we want to build on this. 

f. We will identify the need for support for children and young people 
early using a multi-agency approach will allow the right support to 
be delivered, at the right time. We know that bringing together the 
important networks in a child or young person’s life with partner 

Page 34



agencies and our schools working together can achieve 
outstanding outcomes. 

g. Building on our partnership work so far, we will develop and 
implement an Education and Inclusion Strategy focused on 
improving educational outcomes for all children and young people 
including vulnerable children and improving our offer to children 
and young people with SEND 

h. We will continue to support the development and delivery of more 
vocational education courses including T levels to provide more 
options for young people. We will work with employers through our 
Post-16 Skill Plan to support the Post-16 curriculum. 

i. We will promote Free School Meals to families and encourage 
those who are entitled to take up the offer.

15. Our Strengthening Services Plan 
a. The Strengthening Services plan is driving forward the short and 

medium-term work to strengthen and improve our services for 
vulnerable children. 

b. Our work in this plan sits alongside the Children, Young People and 
Families Plan. 

c. This plan is presented in three sections following the continuum of 
need from early help, to services to protect vulnerable children, 
services for children in care and care leavers, underpinned by 
robust leadership, management and governance.

d. Strategic accountability for the delivery of our Strengthening 
Services Plan is through the Strengthening Services for Children 
and Families in Dorset Board, a multi-agency Board comprised of 
executive level senior leaders across the partnership and including 
Elected Members, chaired by the Chief Executive of Dorset 
Council. 

16.Progress against the SEND Written Statement of Action
a. Ofsted and Care Quality Commission (CQC) revisited the local area 

of Dorset in February 2019. This was to decide whether the local 
area had made sufficient progress in addressing the areas of 
significant weakness detailed in the Written Statement of Action 

Page 35



(WSOA) issued on 23 June 2017. The four outcomes identified 
were:

b. A single system working together across education, health and 
social care for joint outcomes

c. Appropriate, effective and timely joint assessment, planning and 
review of need that is personalised to the child or young person 
with SEND

d. Talking, listening to and involving children, young people and 
parents and carers

e. Use effective monitoring and quality assurance to challenge, 
support and develop provision.

f. As a result of the revisit in February 2019 the inspectors judged that 
sufficient progress had been made against outcomes 1 and 2. 
There was more work to be done to deliver the improvements 
against outcomes 3 and 4. A further action plan was written to 
address the remaining actions, to be monitored by DfE SEND 
advisors. 

17.Overview of progress towards outcome 3: Talking, listening to and 
involving children, young people and parents and carers

a. The actions for this priority have been completed and co-production 
with our parent carers is working well. There have been some 
excellent examples of listening to the voice of children, young 
people and their families through our co-production work and we 
recognise that this work must continue. 

b. There are areas that we continue to work on with our educational 
settings; including that too few of the children and young people 
realise they have an EHCP and understand what that means for 
them. This will improve as we work more closely with our 
educational settings to build their capacity to support children with 
SEND through the annual review process, giving children and 
young people greater awareness and choice as their plan and 
provision is reviewed. 

Page 36



18.Overview of progress towards Outcome 4: Use effective monitoring 
and quality assurance to challenge, support and develop provision.
There have been great strides to use data and audit to improve the 
position on quality and despite some of the challenges of delivering during 
Covid-19, quality improvement initiatives have continued and been 
implemented. 

a. The Council’s quality assurance processes are now established 
and embedded and linked to the wider Children’s Services 
Performance Framework. This emphasises the importance of 
children, young people and family involvement throughout the 
EHCP process. Pan-Dorset quality assurance meetings have 
continued, and learnings from the three cycles of audits to date 
have fed into practices and in the joint steering group for 
consistency and continuity. 

b. Quality improvement initiatives included redesign of the EHCP 
template and the annual review process. These areas are 
anticipated to significantly improve the quality of the plans and 
annual review processes leading to better educational outcomes 
achieved for our children and young people. 

c. In October 2019 the DfE carried out a monitoring visit at the 
midway point to assess progress. The resulting letter to Dorset 
Council in November 2019 recognised ‘the local area’s passion and 
determination to making sustainable improvements to services and 
to improving the lives of children and young people was clear.’ 

d. Further, the DfE judged:

e. ‘You are taking a range of activity to strengthen accountability and 
joint working across the partnership, for example, by bringing 
together and standardising complex IT systems to make better use 
of data and reviewing your governance to ensure that there are 
clear lines of accountability running through your operational and 
strategic groups. We were reassured by the evidence that the 
SEND Implementation Board offers constructive challenge.’ 

f. Nonetheless, we recognise that further work was required:

Page 37



g. to apply an evidence-led and impact-focused approach to 
continuous improvement and this should be a core thread 
throughout governance arrangements; 

h. to continue to achieve and embed full co-production; 

i. to strengthen the performance scorecard; 

j. Ensuring that any changes to leadership or the outcome of the 
current review of the Council’s governance arrangements does not 
have a detrimental impact to the SEND agenda and to update the 
risk register to reflect this.

k. Work completed in response to this includes:

l. A joint Education, Health and Social Care action plan, populated 
with lead officers from the local area tracking and updating 
progress with evidence of impact monitored by improvement board

m. Increase in co-production of improvement work including updated 
local offer sections, a new EHCP template, Let’s Talk workshops, 
changes to process for annual reviews, development of the 
assessment tracker app, weekly parent newsletter and a weekly co-
production meeting in place to discuss emerging issues with 
parents throughout the Covid-19 period

n. Performance scorecard redesigned and updated weekly

o. Risk register updated and routinely reviewed by SEND Board.

p. The actions within the Final Action Plan agreed with the DfE are 
now almost complete. Due to the pandemic situation, 
communication to all local areas with an WSOA was sent in June 
2020, requiring governance to consider any milestones outstanding 
that had been impacted by the national situation and to extend 
timelines where necessary.

q. In response to Covid-19, some resources were redeployed to focus 
on urgent and immediate priorities related to closure of schools and 
restrictions on movement. The dependencies which were delayed 
as a result were:

Page 38



r. the restructure and new way of working (Dorset Children Thrive), 
where the transition was delayed from June 2020 to September 
2020

s. relationships and our joint working with health commissioners which 
were impacted due to urgent priorities in delivery

t. A pause during Covid-19 on the audit of cases using the Children’s 
Services quality assurance framework cycle to ensure this did not 
detract Officers from the focus on responding to the pandemic 
alongside the challenges in getting children, young person and 
family feedback. 

u. Through the work of the SEND Delivery Board (which will be 
superseded by The Best Education for All Steering Group in 
Autumn 2020), progress against the action plan continues to be 
overseen and scrutinised. It is anticipated that progress against the 
remaining actions will be complete by January 2021.

19.Leadership timeline of our response to Covid-19 
a. The Dorset Council Children’s Services Leadership Team works 

closely with systems leaders in other parts of the council; Dorset 
Clinical Commissioning Group; Public Health Dorset; educational 
settings; NHS health providers; police, fire and rescue; town and 
parish councils as well as the community and voluntary sector to 
deliver our ongoing response to the pandemic.

b. The leadership task throughout this period is four-fold: providing 
organisational responses to government advice, guidance and new 
duties; coordinating and participating in partnership responses; to 
deliver business continuity responding to questions and concerns 
about how employees could undertake their work and most 
importantly providing information to and responding to feedback on 
the impact of the pandemic on children, young people and families.

c. Throughout the pandemic we have refined our partnership 
approach to working together to meet the needs of children and 
young people to understand the impact of the changing service 
landscape and guidance changes on individual services and work 

Page 39



together to seek to minimise challenges that we faced. We 
instituted weekly partnership meetings to highlight and address 
risks and issues and following feedback from families on support for 
the youngest children local operational groups to prioritise and plan 
support for the most vulnerable. More recently we have worked as 
multi-agency partners to support the return to school through the 
provision of information, advice and support to those that may have 
found it more challenging.

20.Vulnerable children and young people tracker

a. In response to school closures we created and implemented a new 
system to track attendance and risk of ‘Vulnerable Children’. The 
list of children was brought together based on the DfE definition of 
vulnerable children, in addition as an authority we chose to monitor 
all children with a Dorset EHCP in order to respond to changing 
circumstances as families adjusted differently to life in lock down.

b. This regular meeting of school cluster leads and link workers forum 
provided a key avenue for communicating with schools and helped 
to set up a successful monitoring process which included collecting 
attendance and risk judgement data from schools on a weekly 
basis to allow early intervention where issues were identified (such 
as low attendance of key cohorts). 

c. Progress across the county was shared back with schools at 
periodic intervals via the Cluster Lead meetings and a live online 
portal.

d. We also developed links with out of county schools and had internal 
Council departments link with different settings to collect weekly 
attendance and risk data.

e. Dorset were asked to be one of 3 LAs to provide an update to the 
Troubled Families National Local Authority Webinar in April 2020 
organised by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government in recognition of our efforts to encourage attendance 
of vulnerable children and young people back to school. Particular 
focus was around the collection and use of this attendance and risk 
data. 

Page 40



f. Regarding our work with schools, we had particularly good 
responses from the Dorset special schools, with 100 percent 
response rate for every week of the summer term. In the final week 
of term for special schools, 61% of children attended school.

21.Attendance monitoring over the Summer term 

22.Education Psychology Covid-19 parent helpline
a. At the outset of Covid-19 parents and carers of children and young 

people with SEND had increased worries about education and 
routines. Working together with the Dorset Parent Carer Council 
(DPCC) the service agreed to set up a telephone helpline to 
respond to queries they were receiving from parents, offering 
telephone consultations with an education psychologist five days a 
week morning and afternoon. 

b. The helpline was clearly promoted both through DPCC but also 
through the Council’s communications, website, the SEND 
newsletter and via schools. 

c. Between 27th April – 26th August a total 115 telephone 
consultations took place

23.Risk assessments
a. From the outset of Covid-19 Dorset worked with the schools to 

establish a shared system for schools to share their evaluations 

Page 41



about the vulnerabilities of children and young people within their 
settings. This included those children and young people with an 
EHCP and specifically any SEN Support children the school felt 
required a risk assessment. Schools developed their own risk 
assessments based on the DfE guidance and we worked closely 
with schools to use their own professional judgements in 
partnership with the parents and carers.

24.Education, Health and Care Needs Assessments

a. The SEND service embraces a new performance culture which has 
moved to weekly operational performance monitoring. This 
performance culture underpins the use of business intelligence in 
relation to our cohort to inform both our current work with children 
and young people and informs our future planning. 

b. EHCPs in Dorset Council are increasingly produced within statutory 
timescales. Whilst Covid-19 impacted the performance of our 
service, the resilience and agility of the team and proactive culture 
has been a strength. 

c. The SEND service has seen a consistent flow of Education, Health 
and Care Needs Assessment Requests (EHNCA’s) with 
approximately 17% of all requests in the year to date being 
received by parents. Covid-19 has not resulted in a reduction in the 
number of requests for assessment and our team has worked hard 
to sustain performance despite the challenges we have faced. 

d. There were fewer requests for assessment in August 2020, which 
coincides with our schools preparing to return to school, we know 
from engagement with our schools that there may be an increase in 
requests through the Autumn term as schools return to assessment 
of children and identification of needs.

Page 42



25. Annual Reviews
26.Annual reviews for the cohort this academic year will be different to 

previous years. Not only will this be an opportunity to work with our 
families and professionals to review the EHCP, this will also be a key point 
at which to measure the impact of Covid-19 on educational progress and 
ensure that the provision in place is meeting their needs. 

27.We also recognise the, sometimes less visible, impact that Covid-19 has 
had on the siblings of children with SEND and we will continue to consider 
their needs through early help and targeted support. 

28.Our new annual review strategy seeks parents’ preference on how to hold 
the meeting to ensure our approach is inclusive and safe. We will also 
provide professionals 8 weeks’ notice to ensure they can attend the 
annual review and offer additional advice if needed. Our annual reviews 
will ensure that every opportunity is taken to identify new needs in our 
children and young people with an EHCP so that we can coordinate our 
support across education, health and social care.

Footnote:

Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities 
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is 
included within the report.

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



Dorset Council Dorset Health 
and Wellbeing Board

11 November 2020

Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board Annual 
Report 2019-20 and joint Business Plan 2020 

onwards

Choose an item.

Portfolio Holder: Cllr L Miller, Adult Social Care and Health

Local Councillor(s):   

Executive Director: V Broadhurst, Interim Executive Director of People - Adults
 

Report Author: Barrie Crook
Title: Independent Chair of the Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board
Tel:
Email: barrie.crook@bcpcouncil.gov.uk

Report Status:  Public

Recommendation: This report informs the committee about how the SAB has 
carried out its responsibilities to prevent abuse and neglect of adults with care 
and support needs during 2019-20.

Reason for Recommendation:     

1. Executive Summary 

1.1 The Safeguarding Adults Board (SAB) is required to publish an annual 
report detailing what the SAB has done during the year and the 
contribution each member has made to implementing its strategy. The 
work of the Board and accompanying data concerning the incidence of 
safeguarding concerns and enquiries is set out in slide 24 of appendix 1. 
There then follow the reports from Board member organisations.

Page 45

Agenda Item 9



1.2 The number of referrals rose by 400 in 2019-20 with 58% being confirmed 
as safeguarding. However, a smaller proportion (15%) proceeded to a 
section 42 enquiry. In 86% of enquiries the risk to the individual was 
reduced or removed. 40% of enquiries concerned residents in a care or 
nursing home, whilst 52% of incidents occurred in the person’s own home. 

1.3 The Board’s business plan, agreed jointly with the Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole SAB, is set out in appendix 2. The business plan 
has been delayed this year because of the impact of Covid 19. It is 
anticipated that the priorities and workplan will roll over into 2021-2, 
especially if agencies become absorbed in dealing with a second outbreak 
of the pandemic. The report clearly sets out the Boards’ plan of work and 
the underlying rationale for each priority identified.

2. Financial Implications

2.1 For some years the Board has been using its contingency to fund the day 
to day running costs of its activities. It has not had to commission a 
Safeguarding Adult Review since 2015, but there are now two reviews that 
need to be undertaken, normally with an independent author. These will 
place pressure on the Board’s budget in this financial year.

2.2 The delay in undertaking the SAB governance review has meant that 
there has not been a full review of the budget requirements of the Board 
and member contributions. This is becoming more urgent and will need to 
be progressed so that any bid for additional funding can be considered by 
Council members and partner organisations in this budget planning cycle.

  
3. Climate implications

3.1 None identified.

4. Other Implications

4.1 The SAB works closely with the pan Dorset Childrens Partnership and the 
Dorset Community Safety Partnership, especially in respect of SARs, 
Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHR) and the learning deriving from them. 
There is also an overlapping agenda in relation to, for example, domestic 
abuse, where reviews have identified a need for adult safeguarding and 
domestic abuse systems to work better together in practice.

4.2 The SAB governance review will focus on how the broader governance of 
safeguarding can be better integrated.

4.3 As outlined in the business plan, the Boards are planning a joint event to 
review the learning from the first stage of the pandemic, with particular 
reference to its impact upon the adult care sector. This will be organised in 
conjunction with Public Health and providers of care services.

Page 46



5. Risk Assessment

5.1 No decisions are required.

6. Equalities Impact Assessment

6.1 Women are almost twice as likely (60%) to be subject of a section 42
enquiry than men in all age groups. There is a significant increase for 
those over the age of 75 and a further rise for women over the age of 85. 
75% of all s42 enquiries are for those aged over 65 years.

6.2 The Board is also focussed upon risks to other groups in the community 
and in the past year has strengthened its links with the Learning Disability 
Partnership Board and People First Dorset. The Chair and Business 
Manager contributed to an event for service users to support them in 
handling the risks of domestic and sexual abuse and mate crime.

7. Appendices
7.1 Appendix 1: Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report 2019-20.
7.2 Appendix 2: Dorset and Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole joint 

business plan 2020 onwards.

8. Background Papers

None

Footnote:
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities 
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is 
included within the report.

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board
Annual Report 1st April 2019 – 31st March 2020

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/care-and-support-for-adults/information-for-professionals/dorset-safeguarding-adults-board.aspx

P
age 49



Message from the Independent 

Chair – Barrie Crook

A key feature of 2019-20 has been the commissioning of an independent report to review how 
Dorset and Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Safeguarding Adults Boards work 
together and identify options for the future.

The review has given an impartial view of current safeguarding arrangements. The author 
commented positively on the work of the subgroups and Board staff. The introduction of multi-
agency risk management meetings (MARMs) had been an important initiative. The development 
and maintenance of pan Dorset policies and procedures was highly valued. Safeguarding Adult 
Reviews were rigorously considered, and action plans followed up well. 

However, the reviewer also commented that there was infrequent evidence of challenge in 
Board meetings. Analysis of data was limited and therefore the Boards do not have sufficient 
line of sight into the quality of front-line practice. Time could be saved for the pan-Dorset 
agencies by reshaping Board meeting agendas. 

Since the review there has therefore been an emphasis upon improvements in data recording 
and analysis, particularly in seeking to understand better the causes of neglect and acts of 
omission, which form the most frequent reason for a safeguarding concern being raised.

The Boards have also tried a different meeting structure with each Board meeting separately on 
the same day and then together. This new practice has not yet been repeated or evaluated as 
the advent of Covid 19 led to a temporary pause in a number of Board activities.

P
age 50



It was agreed by members that the independent report had provided a useful starting point for discussion but had not mapped out a definitive model that the partnerships could 

immediately adopt. The appraisal of structural changes has still to be completed. One driver for the review has been Local Government Reorganisation. Dorset Council now forms 

a much larger authority incorporating a wider span of services and responsibilities. Consideration is therefore being given to how the governance of safeguarding more broadly, 

including children's and adult safeguarding and community safety, can be better integrated within the authority.

A second important element is the heightened awareness of domestic abuse within safeguarding. This features strongly in many of the accounts provided by member 

organisations within this report. County Lines and exploitation is another form of abuse where there needs to be integration between safeguarding and community safety 

responsibilities. As a number of Safeguarding Adult and Domestic Homicide Reviews have now pointed out, there is still insufficient alignment between systems for adult 

safeguarding and domestic abuse. It remains an aim of the Board to consistently improve information sharing and multi-agency risk management in practice. 

As a result of Local Government Reorganisation Christchurch passed from Dorset County Council to the new BCP Council. The Board was able to monitor the detailed 

preparations that took place prior to the transfer and has not encountered any examples of where the transfer was not effected well.

Although there are an increasing number of safeguarding issues that lend themselves to a place-based approach, approximately a quarter of concerns emanate from residential 

establishments in the independent care sector. This calls for continuing cooperation between the two local authorities and Health services across the county. The impact of Covid

19 upon the care sector has been significant and it is clear that agencies have created new structures to promote a coordinated response to the pandemic. Different ways of 

working have evolved which, with the continuing importance of controlling the spread of infection in the community and the residential sector, will take up much of the Boards’ 

attention during 2020-21.

Once again, I express my gratitude to the Business Manager and Administrator of the Dorset Board and the chairs of subgroups whose diligence and enthusiasm underpin all that 

the Board has achieved this year.

Barrie Crook

July 2020

P
age 51



About the Board

The Care Act (2014)Section 43 says that 

every local authority must have a 

Safeguarding Adults Board. The purpose 

of the Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board 

(DSAB) is to help safeguard people who 

have care and support needs. The Board 

must assure itself that everyone is 

working together to keep adults safe 

from abuse and neglect. 

The Board meets every 3 months to 

discuss and review information and 

ensure that safeguarding practice across 

the Dorset continues to improve the 

quality of life and outcomes for 

individuals.

“The Board exists to protect adults at risk from abuse, significant harm and neglect. We 

will achieve this through collective accountability.” 

P
age 52



Empowerment –

supported and 

encouraged to make 

decisions

Prevention – better 

to take action 

before harm occurs

Protection – support 

and representation 

for those in greatest 

need

Proportionate – the 

least intrusive 

response to the risk 

presented

Partnership –

solutions through 

services with local 

communities

Accountability – and 

transparency in 

delivering 

safeguarding 

The 6 Safeguarding Principles
These principles remain central in all of the Boards work.

P
age 53



The Board has 3 core duties:

Develop and publish a strategic plan setting out how we will meet our objectives and 

how our members and partner agencies will contribute.
Develop 

Publish an annual report detailing what we have done and how effective we have 

been.
Publish

Undertake a Safeguarding Adults Review (SAR) when someone has died or experienced 

significant harm and it appears agencies have not worked effectively together. 
Undertake

P
age 54



Strategic Aims

Effective Prevention 

Effective Safeguarding

Effective Learning

Effective Governance

The strategic aims 

underpin all of the Boards 

work to enable individuals 

to live safely in their 

communities by 

developing a culture which 

does not tolerate abuse. To 

achieve our aims we must 

actively collaborate and 

maintain a commitment to 

working together, listen 

and hear what people say 

to us, in order to deliver 

positive outcomes.

P
age 55



The Boards 

Priorities for 

2019-20 

During 2019-20 the Board continued to work towards 

achieving the priorities set out in the Strategic Plan for 

2018-2021.

• Support the development of a more robust 

independent provider market that leads to fewer 

safeguarding concerns.

• Reduce the instances of people with care and support 

needs being involved in Domestic Abuse and improve 

the interface between Domestic Abuse and 

Safeguarding.

• Help to establish working with the whole family as 

standard practice.

• Evidence lessons from SARs and DHRS really have 

changed the way we work.

P
age 56



Business Plan 
Priorities -
Progress 
during 
2019/20

• Each year the Board holds a provider event to engage with care providers and hear from them 
regarding current challenges which can inform the Board’s future business, and to share with them 
an overview of the Board’s activity. (details of the DSAB Provider Event are on the following slides).

• The Board supported a workshop at the Dorset MCA Conference to develop knowledge and skills  
about Adult Safeguarding and Coercive Control as this remains a complex and challenging practice 
area.

• The DSAB Business Manager, Community Safety Partnership and Children's Board managers 
delivered a whole family approach to practice session at the Dorset Council Festival of Learning in 
October 2019. This was aimed at embedding this approach in practice across Adults and Childrens 
Services. 

• The Business Teams from the Safeguarding Adults Boards, Safeguarding Children Boards and 
Community Safety Partnerships have formed a Shared Learning Group to look at themes from SARs 
and DHRs. This group links with subgroups, in particular Training & Workforce Development around 
learning and also with the Policy & Procedures group in case any learning necessitates an 
amendment to the pan Dorset safeguarding procedures.

• The DSAB supported and contributed to the funding of the Harry learning event in November 2019 
which was delivered to 240 practitioners across agencies. A programme that included findings of 
the independent review and the inquest looking at each of the protagonists in turn (victim and two 
perpetrators) led by a presenter with excellent knowledge of the events and the theory of Domestic 
Abuse invited groups to reflect on what had happened and how things might be done differently 
today with the advanced learning.

• The Independent Chair, Business Manager and representative from the Dorset Community Safety 
Partnership and Engagement Officer at Dorset Council supported a keeping safe event held by 
People First Dorset friendship group in Weymouth to share the learning from the ‘Harry’ SAR and to 
develop healthy relationships. 

• An Independent Review of the Dorset  and the BCP Safeguarding Adults Boards was commissioned. 
In the summer Board members were interviewed, where possible in person, to gain an 
understanding of their views on the existing arrangements and suggestions for improvements. A 
report of findings was circulated and in December a joint Development Session was held for 
members of both Safeguarding Adults Boards to examine the proposals. Although the two boards 
remain it was decided to trial holding a joint Board meeting and the inaugural one was held in 
March 2020. 

P
age 57



Future 

Challenges

The Board’s objectives in the 3-year Strategic Plan and our progress against those would 
ordinarily have informed the Business Plan for the new reporting year.

However due to the coronavirus pandemic, in the weeks preceding the start of the 2020-21 
year many of the Board’s partners have had to adapt very rapidly to the ever-changing 
landscape. Whilst safeguarding remains at the heart of all activity, new ways of working have 
had to be developed overnight. Existing issues have needed new and innovative approaches 
due to infection-control considerations, and emerging issues have seen partner agencies 
work collaboratively to look for workable, safe solutions.  In terms of funding the crisis, 
partner organisations will have had already stretched limited resources that much further.

The direction of the Board’s Business Plan will inevitably alter course to align with the 
member organisations focus on the most pressing issues, to include the need to examine 
practice during the crisis, sharing learning in a timely manner and measuring and analysing 
the impact it has on issues such as domestic abuse and on those with care and support 
needs. All this will be against the backdrop of preparing for the possibility of further ‘waves’ 
of the virus.

Even in the very early stages of these challenging times, it has been clear that partner 
organisations have adapted very quickly to new ways of working and have made use of the 
technology available. This will undoubtedly impact how the Board and its partners work in 
the future.

P
age 58



Business Plan Priorities 2020 -2021

• The Safeguarding Adults Board will monitor safety and contribute to support plans in the care sector. 

• A reflective learning event will be held in the Autumn with a focus on preventing future harm particularly in the light of concerns about an increase in Covid 19 
infection rates during the winter period, when the health and care system is annually under stress. 

• Domestic abuse remains a continuing priority. The Board will work closely with the Community Safety Partnership to develop and maintain a much more co 
ordinated and joined up approach when responding effectively to adults who have care and support needs who are experiencing domestic abuse or coercion and 
control. The Board recognises that domestic abuse between older partners or familial abuse has not always been acknowledged and responded to effectively. The 
impact of Covid 19 restrictions may have also impacted on carer stress, contributing to an increase in domestic abuse.

• Neglect also remains an ongoing priority. The Board will analyse and segment the data on neglect and acts of omission which is the largest type of concern 
recorded. This is already leading to exploration of opportunities for preventative actions. 

• There is also potential increasing risk of self neglect from the impact of isolation and unexpected bereavement as a result of Covid 19. The SAR sub-group has also 
recently been reviewing more cases of suicide.

• It is acknowledged that an overarching governance structure for safeguarding in its widest sense would help to mitigate the risk of duplication across partnerships 
and lead to better coordination and outcomes for the person. Different models of governance which bring together the responsibilities of Children and Adult 
safeguarding and community safety are being implemented in some authorities. The SAB review, which commenced with an independent report in October 2019 
following Local Government Reorganisation, was  paused in March due to pandemic. There is now a need to integrate into our planning the learning from how the 
safeguarding system as a whole has responded to the pandemic, the pattern of new safeguarding risks and the identified needs which have resulted from it.

• A new Board structure and governance arrangement will be agreed and implementation plans designed. 

• Associated themes have also been identified in the Boards workplan and include the following – clarify understanding of different risk management meeting 
structures, work alongside the Community Safety Partnership and Safeguarding Children's Partnership to respond appropriately to exploitation, understand and 
engage with safeguarding issues for homeless individuals.

• In conjunction with Public Health the Board has committed to being involved in a national project on safeguarding vulnerable dependent drinkers. 

P
age 59



The DSAB shares 4 sub groups with the 

Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole 

Safeguarding Adults Board to enable a 

joined up approach across the County. 

The diagram shows the Boards current 

structure.

Further information about the work of 

the Sub groups in 2019/20 is detailed in 

the following pages.

Sub Groups of the Board

Policy & 

Procedures

Quality Assurance

Training & 

Workforce 

Development

Safeguarding Adults 

Reviews

A shared Executive group also meets 

regularly to maintain oversight of the 

Boards agreed priorities.

P
age 60



Policy & Procedures sub group

The Policy and Procedures sub-group meets on four occasions during throughout the year. A major aspect of the groups work is to oversee the revision of the 
Safeguarding Adults Procedures. The latest version was issues in August 2019, later than planned but necessary to allow for work on a more urgent SA Priorities and to 
enable the inclusion of some graphics to accompany the text. The revision contains some important new or revised Appendices including those on Large Scale 
Enquiries, Pressure Ulcer care, Allegations against people in positions of trust and guidance about multi-agency scams, rogue trading and fraud. The current 
safeguarding procedures can be found using the following link –

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/care-and-support-for-adults/information-for-professionals/dorset-safeguarding-adults-board/dorset-safeguarding-adults-board-
pdfs/bcpdsab-safeguarding-adults-procedures-2019.pdf

The groups  communications and media campaign has continued with a further 2000 posters printed and distributed during 2019/20. These were also 
uploaded to the Boards website for download and a further update to the Keeping Adults Safe leaflet has also been completed. Both can be accessed via 
the following link –

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/care-and-support-for-adults/information-for-professionals/dorset-safeguarding-adults-board/learning-and-development.aspx

2 new pop up banners have also been purchased to support with community learning events. Plans are currently underway for a fresh communication and media 
campaign to promote a wider community understanding of adult safeguarding and effectively communicate where to report concerns. 

Work has also been undertaken to update the Personal Information Sharing Agreement (PISA) with each areas making revisions to current guidance following Local 
Government reorganisation. 

The sub group agreed that a strategy paper should be drafted to provide direction for agencies and encourage their commitment to deliver the benefits of prevention, 
early intervention and wellbeing. This is currently being considered within the Executive Group and is anticipated to be available in 2020/21. The group has also agreed 
a major, innovative, piece of work to comprehensively reformat the Safeguarding Adults Procedures so they are more easily accessible. A “portal” approach is being 
considered and will be worked on during the year ahead as part of the groups workplan.

P
age 61



Quality Assurance sub group 
The Quality Assurance sub group meets quarterly to support the Safeguarding Adults Boards’ to take a strategic overview of the quality of safeguarding activity across 
its area of responsibility. The group reviews and analyses data and performance information as well as the outcome of audits. Service user feedback in line with Making 
Safeguarding Personal (MSP), is integral to supporting improvements in provision and practice to ensure effective prevention and early intervention. The principles of 
MSP are consistently promoted to ensure that they are embedded across partners and the individual remain at the very centre of their safeguarding journey.

The sub group continues to maintain an oversight of performance across the statutory agencies. It has an analytical approach to interpreting data and information to 
effectively identify trends and themes and key areas of focus for the groups work plans. Advocacy referrals and contract monitoring processes are also regularly 
reviewed to ensure effective support and representation of views and wishes.

This subgroup holds responsibility for assuring the Board that there are effective and accountable safeguarding adults quality performance indicators and monitoring 
systems in place. It produces a quarterly report to the board highlighting  individual agency safeguarding themes,  approach and service provision and holds 
responsibility for ensuring this is maintained across all partner organisations. This enables the board to consider how it should respond and any areas for inclusion in 
the Boards Business Plan.

During 2019/20 the group reviewed its terms of reference to strengthen its focus with a renewed commitment to developing feedback mechanisms and co ordinating 
multi agency audit work to effectively understand the persons safeguarding  journey and experiences across organisations, identifying areas of good practice and 
learning.

Areas of work initiated or completed by the Quality Assurance sub group throughout 2019/20 include the following –

• Additional recording mechanisms agreed to enable a better understanding of those safeguarding concerns relating to Neglect & Acts of Omission. This has enabled 
enhanced analysis of this abuse type and a better understanding of influencing factors.

• Initiated an audit of the Multi Agency Risk Management Meeting process. The purpose of the audit is to assure the Board that the guidance issued in 2017 is being 
used correctly and to seek assurance that the process is not being used in pace of other more appropriate governance arrangements. The audit will be completed 
in 2020/21 with a report including recommendations shared with the Boards. Outcomes will shape any revisions of the guidance.

• Improved links with carers steering groups to support improvements in capturing feedback and improve service delivery.

• Continued attendance and contribution to both Learning Disability Partnership Boards and friendship groups.

• All partners have worked towards improving the analysis of their data to promote a mutual understanding of safeguarding practice and processes.

P
age 62



Training and Workforce Development sub 

group

Training and 

Workforce 

Development 

Subgroup-Pan 

Dorset Work

Shared Learning 

group with 

Community 

Safety 

Partnership,  

Safeguarding 

Adults Boards 

and Childrens 

Safeguarding.

Attendance at 

Pan Dorset 

Strategic Group 

Meeting 

(Safeguarding 

Training for 

Children)

Support group for 

Trainers who 

deliver 

Safeguarding 

Adults Training
Support and 

displays at the 

'Teenage 2 Adult' 

Conference at 

Kingston 

Maurward

College

Support and 

displays at  Poole 

Hospital 

Safeguarding 

Week

Workshop and 

displays  at the 

MCA Conference 

in Dorchester

The Training, Workforce and Development subgroup has responsibility for ensuring 

the Safeguarding Adults Boards have an action plan which identifies, implements and 

evaluates the learning and developmental needs of the workforce across partner 

agencies. The group works closely with both the Policy and Procedures sub group as 

well as the Quality Assurance sub group to ensure training is developed which 

reflects changes in policy as well as agreeing the methodology for monitoring the 

standard and impact of safeguarding adults training. 

Some of the groups work are highlighted in the diagram. In addition to this the sub 

group has worked closely with Partners in Care (PIC) by providing updates to Care 

Managers focusing on developments n safeguarding practice, themes and changes to 

the Dorset Safeguarding Adults Procedures. This has been co-ordinated through their 

regional hub meetings.

Additional support has also been offered through attendance at the Home Care 

Provider event and meeting for trainers of care home managers. 

P
age 63



Safeguarding Adults Review Sub group
The subgroup regularly receives referrals of cases for it to consider whether a Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) is required. A SAR must be arranged when an adult dies 
as a result of abuse or neglect, whether known or suspected, and there is concern that partner agencies could have worked more effectively to protect the adult.

Of the Dorset referrals since 2016, only one case has met the threshold to date. In BCP area there have been 2, each of which is being progressed as a joint review, in 
one case as a Domestic Homicide Review (DHR) in the other where a Mental Health Homicide Investigation has also taken place.

There are other avenues that can be considered if it is felt that a case has not met the SAR criteria but learning can be derived. In such circumstances a referral in made 
to the Safeguarding Leads group whose members consider the case and report back to the SAR subgroup with their findings and recommendations. 

The subgroup also reviews the outcome of Domestic Homicide Reviews to determine if any recommendations may be relevant to adult safeguarding and provide some 
quality assurance. The table following table records information for both Dorset and the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Boards to illustrate the outcome of 
referrals since 2016. 

Dorset Outcome BCP

1 agreed

agreed and progressed as a 

joint report

2

2 currently under consideration 1

2 not SAR – reviewed by 

safeguarding leads

2

1 LeDeR review considered 

sufficient

1

1 not SAR but other review 

considered by the subgroup

2

2 DHRs or SCR reviewed by the 

subgroup

6

It is also a role of the subgroup to monitor action plans arising from the recommendations of 

reviews. In 2019-20 a considerable amount of work was undertaken to disseminate multiagency 

learning from the SAR/DHR into the death of Harry, a young man with a learning disability who 

was murdered in 2015. An action plan was completed following the review. A number of learning 

events have been held for staff of organisations represented on the Board, independent 

providers, carers and service users. The Boards have worked jointly with the Learning Disability 

Partnerships in both areas to cascade learning.

P
age 64



DSAB Provider Event –
February 2020
Each year the Board hosts a Provider event which offers an opportunity for it to 
engage with all providers in Dorset. This important event ensures that we work in 
partnership and enables the Board to deliver safeguarding updates, short learning 
sessions and an opportunity for providers to contribute and identify priorities for 
the Boards business plan.    

This years event took place at The Crown Hotel, Blandford Forum on the 5th

February 2020. 

Presentations included –

• An overview of the Board and its strategic aims and achievements.

• Update from Dorset Council Safeguarding Adults Team including the new 
online referral form.

• Commissioning and contracts update.

• Criminal Exploitation & County Lines: the Dorset picture

• Liberty Protection Safeguards: Overview and update

P
age 65



Feedback from the Provider Event – Feb 2020
This years event was attended by almost 100 provider staff. Feedback 

from the event about what was most useful included the following 

comments: 

All of the 

event was 

useful.

The interaction 

between the 

presenters and 

audience.

Opportunity 

to ask 

questions

Case 

Studies

Reviewing the 

safeguarding 

statistics for 

Dorset

Good to 

network with 

providers and 

professionals.

P
age 66



Suggestions for next years Provider event…..

Make it a 

whole day 

event!

Include the persons 

voice 

More small 

workshops and 

group work

Lessons learnt 

and what changes 

have been made 

to practice and 

services.

Film the 

presentations

More guest 

speakers 

including the 

police.

Engage more about 

issues related to 

the whole family.

P
age 67



4 4

0

4 4

3

1

3

2

0 0

2 2

4

2

0

4

0

1

2

3

4

Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board Meetings 2019/2020 - Member attendance

P
age 68



£27,620

£9,000

£10,000

£2,000

£1,000 £1,000
£500

Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board Members Contributions

Dorset Council

Dorset Police

Dorset CCG

Dorset healthcare Foundation Trust

Poole Hospital Foundation Trust

Royal Bournemouth & Christchurch Foundation Trust

Dorset & Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service

The Board receives financial 

contribution from its members to 

support in the undertaking and 

completion of its work. The 

contributions support 3 types of 

expenditure:

1. Funding of Board staff and 

expenses involved in the 

running of the Board.

2. To support the priorities 

identified in the Business Plan.

3. The costs of commissioning a 

Safeguarding Adults review.

Total contributions received 

in 2019/20 = £51,120

P
age 69



The Boards website contains a number of tabs to support navigation. The current policy and procedures 
can be found at the top of the page. To access the website use the following link-

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/care-and-support-for-adults/information-for-professionals/dorset-
safeguarding-adults-board.aspx

P
age 70



Members reports

At the end of 2019 – 20 the Covid 19 pandemic led to board members focus shifting to enable 

a co ordinated and effective response in supporting residents of Dorset during the crisis. As a 

result not all Board members have been able to submit a report for inclusion. 

A reports absence does not detract from the input and commitment they have demonstrated 

to the Boards work throughout the year.

P
age 71



P
age 72



Dorset was served by nine councils until 1 April 2019 when local government reorganisation reduced those to two: Dorset Council and Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole 

Council. The principal reasons why we came together to form the new unitary Dorset Council were:

• To protect frontline services by reducing costs and duplication;

• To give Dorset a stronger voice nationally;

• To better meet the needs of communities across Dorset, by bringing all services together in one council, working jointly for local people.

Bringing services together, with a shared common purpose, created a scale and effectiveness that the previous councils couldn’t achieve alone. However, the Dorset Council 

Plan for 2020-24 recognises that some constraints still remain, as demand continues to rise for services such as support for people with care and support needs.

Dorset Council maintained a key focus on adult safeguarding throughout the transition period to ensure that individuals received a high quality and personalised service. The 

Learning & Organisational Development Team in the new Adults and Housing Directorate delivered 17 face to face Safeguarding Adults Essential Skills courses across Dorset 

which were attended by 296 participants. In addition, 2 courses focussing specifically on Modern Slavery were also delivered to all staff across Dorset Council. Following the 

development of the Domestic Abuse Training Framework developed in partnership with key agencies such as Dorset Police, Dorset Healthcare, Dorset Probation and Childrens 

Services and in conjunction with the Dorset Community Safety Partnership, a new ‘level 3’ programme was developed. Ten face to face courses were delivered to 150 Dorset 

Council employees, across Adult, Housing and Children’s services.  All Dorset Council employees are also supported by the availability of an online learning module.

The learning and development team also supported the annual Safeguarding Adults Board Provider event. This is an opportunity for the care sector to come together to 

participate in short learning sessions and contribute to the Boards business planning for the following year. This event took place in February 2020.

During 2019/20 Dorset Council embarked on an ambitious Strengths Based Practice Programme to enable staff to take a collaborative approach in working with adults who 

themselves identify the outcomes they want to achieve using their strengths and assets. Unlike previous learning programmes this programme was designed to include learning 

opportunities for all staff in Adult Services including colleagues from housing and commissioning.  This programme also supports our commitment to Making Safeguarding 

Personal which promotes the empowerment of the person and ensures they remain in control throughout their safeguarding journey. 

During October 2019 the annual Adults & Housing Festival of Learning event took place with the theme ‘Strengths Based Practice’. Over 200 colleagues attended with 29 

sessions hosted over a 2 week period. Sessions included Adult Safeguarding and Making Safeguarding Personal, Criminal Exploitation & County Lines, the Mental Capacity Act 

and a Whole Family Approach to Practice. The keynote speaker was Clenton Farquharson (Think Local Act Personal). 

P
age 73



Adults & Housing festival of Learning 14th – 25th October 2019

P
age 74



Dorset Council works within an integrated care system (Our Dorset) which brings together different partners to improve both the health and social care system and 

importantly the experience of individuals who use our services. Prevention at scale and integrated community services has created a common goal to enable people with 

care and support needs to live safely in their communities. 

The Council continues to attend the Quality Monitoring Groups which focus on the scrutiny of the quality of domiciliary, residential and nursing care. The Quality 

Improvement Team based within the commissioning service, work to support providers and care sector partners and maintains a strong partnership approach to ensure an 

open and transparent culture. 

The Specialist Safeguarding Team has a dedicated duty worker who in a consultative capacity provides information and advice. This builds greater confidence amongst 

practitioners, providers, residents and ensures identified safeguarding concerns can be addressed and acted upon quickly. Improved data analysis evidenced where further 

practice development was needed such as trends in enquiries into neglect and acts of omission.  

The Specialist Safeguarding Team in Dorset council provides a single point of contact for all people and partners when they have safeguarding concerns. There continues to 

be an internal monthly audit programme to audit safeguarding decision making and identify and share the learning arising from the audits. Making Safeguarding Personal 

continues to be an area of focus to ensure the principles are fully understood and embedded in practice. 

During 2019/20 the specialist Safeguarding Team have also established the Adult Safeguarding Bimonthly Leads meeting which includes representation from Dorset CCG and 

all health partners, South West Ambulance Service, and Dorset & Wiltshire Fire Service. Two members from the team have also contributed to the social work teaching 

programme at Bournemouth University to develop their knowledge and understanding of the Adult Safeguarding duty under the Care Act (2014).

P
age 75



Mental Capacity Act Team 2019-20 

The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) are a statutory mechanism of protecting people’s rights when they require high levels of restriction to meet their care needs and 

lack the capacity to consent to this for themselves.  The council has a responsibility to make sure no-one is subject to greater levels of restriction than is absolutely necessary 

and the DoLS are the way this is done for people in care homes and hospitals. During the year from April 2019 to March 2020, Dorset Council received 2546 DoLS referrals, of 

which 508 were assessed as being priority referrals. The team aims to complete all priority referrals within 14 days from the point of the initial referral; although the situation 

is very fluid, especially with people who are in hospital who can regain capacity or go home within very short spaces of time. The team works very closely with Dorset Council’s 

Legal Services to take cases to Court of Protection where there are disputes which cannot be resolved at a local level or where a person is objecting to some aspect of a 

deprivation of liberty authorisation. There were in excess of 40 cases taken to Court of Protection during the course of 2019/20, which is recognised as a positive as it is shows 

Dorset Council’s commitment to protecting and promoting people’s Human Rights.

The team offers a ‘real time’ advice service, with a duty worker available during office hours to take calls from people wanting advice or support with any aspect of the Mental 

Capacity Act. Calls come in from Social Care staff, hospitals, care homes, advocacy services, Primary Care and family and other informal carers. The team work closely with the 

Dorset Council Safeguarding Team who moved location in County Hall to sit in the same area in order to promote good information sharing, support and co working. 

The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards system is due to be replaced with the Liberty Protection Safeguards, which aim to provide the same level of protection of people’s rights 

but in a more streamlined way and in all settings, not just hospitals and care homes. The implementation of these new safeguards has been delayed by Covid-19 but is now 

planned for April 2022.  The MCA Team is working with our partners in Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole Council, the Acute Hospital Trusts, Dorset Healthcare and the 

Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group to ensure the change to the new system is as smooth and effective as possible.

P
age 76



The 11th Mental Capacity Act Conference – 18th February 2020

This annual conference was held at Thomas Hardye School with over 400 people attending from Dorset Council, BCP, DHUFT, the acute Hospitals, Voluntary and Independent 

Sector and Care Homes. The conference was opened by Councillor Laura Miller (Portfolio holder for Adult Social Care and Health) and included an excellent keynote speech 

from Alex Ruck-Keen a prominent lawyer working with the Mental Capacity and Human Rights Act. Dorset Fire Service also addressed the use of emollients with vulnerable 

and immobile people. There were a range of workshops led by people working across the health and social care partnership . Some examples of the sessions are below (then 

we could take out the following - included assessing capacity, making best interest decisions, safeguarding, coercion and control, alcohol (and the vulnerable – just thinking 

about language do we want to take this bit out?), strengths based working with the MCA, assistive technology and working with mental capacity in the perinatal service. 

The conference feedback was excellent and the whole day was a celebration of the Mental Capacity Act (2005). For further information about the event including feedback 

and presentation slides please follow the link below -

https://adultsocialcare.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/information-for-professionals/mental-capacity-act-conference-18-february-2020/

P
age 77



In response to the COVID19 pandemic which began at the end of this reporting year, Dorset Council quickly responded to the emerging crisis to ensure that adults were 

safeguarded and their wellbeing promoted. Dorset Council established a safeguarding and mental health subgroup as part of the Community Shield. This group coordinated a 

community and partnership response to helping people maintain their emotional wellbeing and mental health who were shielding or requiring support during the pandemic. 

The group including the community and voluntary sector, Dorset Fire and Rescue, CCG, Public Health, Childrens and Adults Social Care worked together to identify children, 

adults and families at risk building on the strengths and insight of local networks within communities.  . An Equality Impact Assessment was being developed which includes 

consideration of the impact of Covid-19 on people from ethnic minority communities. 

In Dorset council, the Adults and Housing Directorate also established a safety cell group with partners which reported into the Local Resilience Forum (LRF).  A small multi 

agency group (LA's, Dorset Police, Dorset CCG, SAB Chair and Business Managers) met weekly or bi weekly to monitor demands across the safeguarding partnership. The has 

ensured safeguarding remains a key focus area and multi-agency contingency planning can be achieved. The DSAB and Dorset Community Safety Partnership have worked 

closely to monitor domestic abuse throughout the period and supported a new campaign to raise awareness. There has been increased focus on safeguarding people during a 

period when lives have changed dramatically because of self-isolation and social distancing and, in particular, attention paid to carers experiencing high levels of stress and on 

the needs of people with substance misuse.

P
age 78



For NHS England and NHS Improvement, 2019/ 20 has been a year of transformational change and new opportunities leading to the organisation becoming a single body on 1st

2020.  For the organisation it has been important that NHS England and NHS Improvement maintains safeguarding continuity, as it prepared for the devolution from the national 

safeguarding team, to regional safeguarding leads.  

NHS England and Improvement – South West has undertaken a considerable journey in the last year as we developed our new workforce aligned to each Directorate. As part of our 

workforce development we have developed a diverse safeguarding team supporting national safeguarding programme delivery, leadership and safeguarding support to our partners 

as well as specialist roles within our own commissioned services. A new South West Regional Safeguarding lead has been appointed and we are looking forward to settling our 

teams in their new roles in addition to the opportunity and potential this coming year brings.

Nationally and the South West has seen considerable change over the last financial year, not only in our own workforce but across our South West partners in both Health and Social 

Care. We have continued to be actively working with our cross-government partners and to ensure our NHS plays a full part as system leaders. This includes actively contributing to 

and looking ahead to national changes, such as the implementation of Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS) and to ensure the relevant sections of the Domestic Violence and Abuse 

Bill are implemented at a national level and, across region. 

The NHS Standard Contracts, Safeguarding Digital Strategy and Commissioning Assurance Toolkits have remained a key focus of work on protection, section 42 enquiries, Think 

Family, and the prevention agenda and contextual safeguarding.  This work is ongoing, and since COVID-19, expanding across cross government workstreams, as well as regionally 

through our integrated care systems, community safety partnerships and violence reduction units; where we look to identify hot spots of contextual safeguarding and trauma 

informed practice.

The Safeguarding Adults National Network (SANN) has continued to raise the profile of the safeguarding adult’s agenda. The Network has Designated Adult Professionals from local 

systems who have been nominated by regional leads. During 2019/2020 there have been face to face core meetings as well as, a virtual network which is hosted on the FutureNHS

Safeguarding Workspace. Over the financial year, the virtual network has been able to feed any issues, concerns and successes to the core network for discussion, via this platform.  

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, SANN meets virtually fortnightly, and has expanded to include Safeguarding Adult Board Business Managers and the Chair of the National 

Independent Safeguarding Adults Board Chairs.  Together, we continue to build the voice of the virtual network and create a community of practice for safeguarding adults’ 

colleagues across the health and integrated care systems. 

NHS England and NHS Improvement (South West)

P
age 79



The CCG Safeguarding Team was restructured in 2019, this led to the appointment of a Head of Safeguarding, an Adult Safeguarding Lead and a Designated Children’s 
Nurse who joined the team in March 2020. The new members of the Team have joined the three GP Safeguarding Leads, the Designated Nurse for Looked After 
Children (LAC), and the Designated Doctor and Designated Doctor for LAC.

The vision for the new Team is to work in a systems led approach across the CCG and its commissioned services, simplifying processes and streamlining bureaucracy, 
with a view in health to have a single training package, safeguarding policy and risk register. The new Team will work closely with Contracts and Procurement to ensure 
safeguarding is embedded throughout all services. 

Across the health economy, both the CCG and all of our commissioned providers are engaged and committed to safeguarding. The Safeguarding Teams across all 
commissioned services provide expert advice, support, supervision and specialist training to support all staff to fulfil their safeguarding responsibilities and duties.  

Over the past 12 months the Safeguarding Teams across Dorset have adopted a `think family` / think community approach, both Dorset Health Care and Dorset County 
Hospital have integrated their specialist safeguarding services.

All Providers maintain their knowledge and keep-up-to-date  through attendance at regional and national networks and all safeguarding specialist in health receive 
regular supervision. 

P
age 80



Dorset Health Care’s Safeguarding Service has gone through considerable transformation this year. The Professional Lead for Safeguarding has led the development of a 

comprehensive integrated safeguarding service across the Trust. The service has focused on the statutory safeguarding requirements as set out in the Children Act (1989, 2004) 

Working Together 2018 and the Care Act (2014). 

The service provides assurance that the Trust has safeguarding children, young people and adults at risk in the centre of the care provided.  The service is committed to work 

with learning and development to continually update and upskill staff to ensure processes and procedures are in place to facilitate excellent safeguarding standards.

Our safeguarding vision and strategy recognises that prevention is central to service provision, therefore we are working to deliver a “Safeguarding Everyone, Think Family” 

approach across the Trust. This approach allows the Trust to embrace the additional requirements of the wider safeguarding agenda including contextual safeguarding, Domestic 

Abuse, PREVENT, Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking. The working group provides a forum for the dissemination of learning from safeguarding and safeguarding reviews and 

enables us to monitor actions and outcomes. 

We have responded to the challenges of COVID19, introducing remote working to ensure effective interagency engagement to maintain safety for children and adults at risk. 

Innovative training opportunities have also been adopted through this virtual platform.

The service complies with the NHSE/I Safeguarding Accountability and Assurance Framework (SAAF) 2019. This outlines the Trust’s safeguarding roles, duties and responsibilities 

through the demonstration of safeguarding leadership and safeguarding commitment at all levels of the organisation. The Trust is fully engaged and supports local accountability 

and assurance structures set by the local Safeguarding Children’s Partnership, two Safeguarding Adult’s Boards, Community Safety Partnership and the CCG.

The safeguarding service has reviewed all the internal relevant safeguarding policies, procedures and guidance to ensure all Trust staff and volunteers are aware of their 

statutory duties to safeguard. All safeguarding documentation is uplifted onto the Trust internal website.

The service has continued to work with learning and development to offer a comprehensive integrated safeguarding training package to meet the requirements set out in the 

following:

• Intercollegiate Document, Safeguarding Children and Young People: Roles and Competencies for Health Care Staff 4th edition (2019) 

• Adult safeguarding: Roles and Competencies for Health Care Staff (2018)

• Looked After Children: Knowledge, skills and competencies of health care staff (2015)

P
age 81



The service receives evidence to indicate that all staff are compliant with the training requirements which includes a comprehensive Domestic Abuse eLearning package for both 

clinical and non-clinical staff .  A number of bespoke DA training sessions have also been delivered which have embraced issues of stalking, harassment, coercion and control. 

The safeguarding team offer safeguarding supervision to all relevant staff as appropriate to their role.  Group supervision sessions have been provided by the Senior Safeguarding 

Practitioners (SSP); this has been continued albeit virtually during the Covid19 pandemic. Safeguarding supervision has been developed further to embrace a train the trainer model 

allowing suitably experienced practitioners to deliver supervision with support from the SSP’s. Both the Sexual Health services and the Looked after Children Nurses are using this 

model.

We now have Senior Safeguarding Practitioners and Safeguarding Practitioners in place, each with different roles and responsibilities. A safeguarding hub has been developed as a 

single point of contact for all DHC safeguarding concerns.  Our safeguarding practitioners have generic safeguarding knowledge to offer first line support to frontline practitioners, 

accessing support from the senior safeguarding practitioners (adult and child) for support with more complex cases. 

We have continued to meet the demands of the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) based at Poole Police Station and have worked alongside multi agency partners to embrace 

the growing requirements of the Domestic Abuse agenda through the BCP council Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) and the  High Risk Domestic Abuse pilot with 

Dorset Council.  

We have strengthened our links with Mental Health and Learning Disabilities services which includes working alongside a nominated adult mental health practitioner to strengthen 

the “Safeguarding Everyone, Think Family” agenda. This practitioner has worked with a number of MH safeguarding forums and strong links have been forged with the Criminal 

Justice Liaison Diversion service, the homelessness service and the Forensics service. This has facilitated a deeper understanding  of individuals within the services and the 

complexity of their needs. The professional lead for safeguarding has been supporting the Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) task and finish group after a 

mental health homicide review . The Professional Lead for Safeguarding now also attends all the Mental Health, Community Services and CYP senior team meetings to strengthen 

the voice of safeguarding. Work has also ongoing reinforcing links with the Medical Advisory Committee. 

Considerable work has been undertaken to review the clinical systems to identify when there are children under the care of adults in receipt of services. A safeguarding template has 

been designed and embedded into the Electronic Patient Record, for the safe storage and sharing of relevant and proportionate information.

P
age 82



Collaborative work has taken place with partners to meet the requirements of Section 10 of the Children Act 2004 and the Care Act 2014 with strong evidence of effective 

cooperation at all levels of the multi-agency partners, from strategic level through to operational delivery.  

The safeguarding service has strengthened collaborative working with the Trust’s Quality directorate to manage any serious incidents where there are elements of 

safeguarding present. The safeguarding service has managed a number of significant events throughout the year including unexpected death and serious injury of a child, 

young person or adult at risk. The service also engages in all safeguarding practice reviews (previously serious case reviews), domestic homicide reviews, safeguarding adult 

reviews and multi-agency case audits. 

The Service is engaged with any LADO referrals that implicate a DHC staff member and has guidance in place to managing allegations against people who work with children 

and adults at risk. The service is also fully engaged within a comprehensive audit programme, which allows for the service to learn and develop. Finally, the service is looking 

forward to the opportunities that the forthcoming year will offer it, including further transformation of the team, a review and quality assurance of what is currently offered.

P
age 83



Dorset County Hospital Foundation Trust recognise that one of the most important principles of safeguarding is that it is ‘everyone’s responsibility’. The Safeguarding Team 

provide expert advice, support, supervision and specialist training to support all Trust staff to fulfil their safeguarding responsibilities and duties. The safeguarding work is 

underpinned by DCHFT`S strategy ` outstanding care for people in ways which matter to them `to ensure the persons voice is always heard when accessing any of our 

service`s .

Over the past 12 months the Safeguarding team has fully integrated , to adopt a `think family` / think community approach across the Trust and have been active in 

promoting Safeguarding, these are just some of the activities undertaken ;

• The Team presented their vision for an integrated approach to Safeguarding at a Pan Dorset Event for Safeguarding where Kenny Gibson, NHS Lead for Safeguarding was 

in attendance May 2019

• Attendance at South West NHS Adult leads meetings , allowing for sharing of issues , safeguarding group supervision & to contributing resources across the South West 

• A rolling programme of Dragonfly workshops( domestic abuse in rural areas project ) were delivered by You First to staff members of all grades and backgrounds at DCH , 

• The team attended a regional County Lines event in Taunton, May 20197 shared this knowledge within their training packages and through internal communication briefs.

• The Team, along with Tracey Underhill, Domestic Health Advocate, held a ‘trolley dash’ to the wards and Departments as part of ’16 Days of Action’ raising awareness of 

Domestic Abuse in November.

• Internal and external internet sites fully upgraded and refreshed 

• Twice yearly Safeguarding newsletters shared with all employees at DCH 

• The LD and MCA Advisor, as well as staff from GUM, Women’s Health and Breast Care worked with People First Dorset in delivering the Girls Aloud project

• During Autism Awareness month weekly briefings sent to all staff which including information on: What is autism; mental health issues and autism; barriers to accessing 

good healthcare; autism in the workplace

• Through the Learning Disability Awareness week the Safeguarding Lead, LD and MCA Advisor as well as member from People First Dorset carried out a ‘Trolley Dash’ to 

wards and departments checking staff knowledge around how to support a person with a learning disability who may come into our services. Correct answers were 

rewarded with sweet treats! This gave ‘live time’ assurance around staff knowledge of reasonable adjustments, policy and use of the Mental Capacity Act

• The Safeguarding Lead, LD and MCA Advisor and Addictions Nurse ran a workshop at the Annual Mental Capacity Act Conference in February 2020. The workshop was 

entitled, Alcohol, Capacity and Vulnerability. 

• Dorset Advocacy, ‘Experts by Experience’ completed a Mystery Shopper visit to DCH in June 2019

P
age 84



Poole Hospital continues to be an active partner is the Safeguarding Adults Board activities and has regular attendance at the Board and sub-groups. Through its own internal 

structures, it continues to work in support of the Boards 4 key aims to have Effective Prevention, Effective Safeguarding, Effective Education and Effective Governance.  

The trust had its last CQC inspection between 15th October and 14th November 2019. Overall the trust maintained its Good rating with an outstanding rating for the caring 

domain. In respect of safeguarding the only key action for the trust was to continue with work to ensure that all staff complete mandatory safeguarding training in a timely 

way. 

Highlights from 2019/20

Over the past year the adult safeguarding lead and the named and lead safeguarding midwives have worked collaboratively to further develop a whole family and lifespan 

approach to adult safeguarding.  This has included the following highlights: 

Safeguarding Champions 

The Safeguarding Champions group has been strengthened through the addition of midwifery staff since September 2019. The development programme for the Champions 

group has included learning disabilities, the Mental Capacity Act, County Lines and Sexual Exploitation, Domestic Abuse and the MARAC process. External speakers have 

attended from the Sexual Assault Recovery Centre in Bournemouth, the Police Impact Team and Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council.  

Access to support for victims of Domestic Abuse 

In July 2019 the trust introduced an additional resource through which staff can discreetly provide the domestic abuse help line number to women who may be vulnerable to 

abuse (for example lip balms with the telephone number on), these products have been implemented across the trust.

Safeguarding Awareness Week

In November the Trust’s children, adult and maternity safeguarding team worked together to highlight safeguarding across the whole trust. The team were joined at an 

awareness raising day by partner agencies including the police, Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC) and the Rape Crisis Team and together shared information with staff and 

patients. 

P
age 85



Within the Trust’s clinical departments the team undertook daily trolley dashes around the hospital to ensure that safeguarding awareness was bought to all areas. Staff on 

wards had the opportunity to meet everyone in the team, ask questions, and help themselves to information and resources.

Safeguarding Training

Both the safeguarding lead nurse and named midwife are now involved in facilitating safeguarding training across the Trust and working closely with the adult and children’s 

leads to deliver in house level 2 and 3 training. This has had excellent feedback and also enabled staff from across the trust and maternity site to work together. 

During 2020/21 new on-line training will be developed to supplement face to face learning and provide a flexible and easy to access offer for training all staff in the trust. P
age 86



The Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trist  provide healthcare for the residents of Bournemouth, Christchurch, East Dorset and part of the New 

Forest with a total population of around 550,000. Some specialist services cover a wider catchment area, including Poole, the Purbecks and South Wiltshire.

The Trust strives to provide safe, caring, effective, responsive and well-led care within the Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals and safeguarding is an important 

component of this.

The hospitals in the Trust have strong relationships with other health leads and ensure that learning is shared with these.  The Trust also works in partnership with Pan Dorset 

partner agencies to promote and strive towards the priorities of the Safeguarding Adults Board and the alignment of practice in the CCG and in all Dorset Acute Trusts. 

Staff in selected areas of the trust have received enhanced Learning Disability Training and have participated in awareness-raising initiatives including trolley dashes.

The online safeguarding training has been updated and relaunched and the promotion of domestic abuse awareness is ongoing.

The Trust’s strategic objectives include Valuing our Staff, Improving Quality and Reducing Harm and Strengthening Team Working. This framework supports Team RBCH to 

deliver safe and compassionate care for our patients and shape future health care across Dorset. Our final objective of Listening to Patients ensures meaningful engagement 

to improve patient experience. This aligns with the Care Act principle of Making Safeguarding Personal.

P
age 87



Modern Day Slavery and Human Trafficking 

We are continuing to develop our capability to investigate Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking (MSHT) offences in the following ways: 

We have taken part in an inspection from the National MSHT and are seeking to continue to develop in this area. 

We have delivered training to a small proportion of neighbourhood officers and first responders. 

We have invested in the further training of Detective Inspectors and Detective Sergeants on the Modern Day Slavery investigators course. Further training was planned for 

June and October but had to be postponed due to Covid. This will be revisited in due course. 

The development and planned introduction a first responder’s booklet to assist front line officers in the initial management of a MSHT offence. 

County Lines 

The Force has continued to work with national partners to develop and implement effective safeguarding practices in relation to County Line offences in the following ways: 

Continued work with National County Lines Coordination Centre and the College of Policing

Introduction of a County Lines team in BCP area 

Sharing, analysis and management of information 

The force has continued to develop a more effective way of sharing information following police contact with vulnerable people with partner agencies. A team of 

Safeguarding Referral Officers (SROs) manage the referrals for vulnerable adults, domestic abuse and vulnerable children within the Safeguarding Referral Unit (SRU).   There 

work is supported by a Detective Sergeant to ensure a timely review and that any criminal investigations are triaged and allocated to an officer for further investigation. 

The force is actively engaging S42 planning enquiry meetings, professional meetings and MARMS to ensure that we proactively contribute to the safeguarding of these most 

vulnerable. 

The Force Intelligence Bureau (‘FIB’) continues to focuses on an intelligence-led approach to threat, risk and harm. The FIB has a dedicated vulnerable adult’s desk, an analyst 

and a researcher, developing and supporting vulnerable adult and MSHT investigations

P
age 88



Training and Development 

The force is seeking to develop further vulnerability training during autumn 2020.  This one-day training day will improve the skills of officers/staff to effectively recognise and 

support the complex needs of vulnerable individuals, to encourage professional curiosity and to ensure that they have the skills to keep people safe. 

The Adult Safeguarding Team have all completed Level 1 Adult Safeguarding course. 

The forces Learning and Development Unit are developing an Adult Safeguarding course for specialists. 

Stalking Clinic 

The force continues to support the Stalking Clinic and ensure that relevant cases are referred to clinic and considered for Stalking Protection Orders.  

Vulnerability Lawyers 

The force has introduced two Vulnerability Lawyers this year in order to develop our tactical options in keeping the people of Dorset safe. These lawyers support the 

Vulnerability programme by providing legal guidance and obtaining civil orders on behalf of Dorset Police such as Domestic Violence Protection Orders, Stalking Protection 

Orders, Trafficking Orders and Sexual Harm Prevention Orders.  The team will be joined by a third part time lawyer in September 2020. 

Governance

Dorset Police have now established a Vulnerability Programme Board chaired by ACC Fielding. This is the overarching governance board driving the force’s vulnerability 

agenda and will take Dorset Police from good to outstanding.  There are two key sub groups that support this board: 

• DA and Operations Group 

• Partnership and Operations Group

P
age 89



Over the last year the force has invested in creating dedicated posts in the shape of a Superintendent, Inspector and Project Manager, in support of our commitment to 

delivering an outstanding service to vulnerable victims. An additional Superintendent post has just been agreed to further support this work with a focus on partnership and 

business support to the operational teams within Public Protection Command.

Transformation and Business Development

In addition to the Vulnerability Programme described above, Crime and Criminal Justice Command are undertaking further work to review structures and capabilities to 

further enhance our quality of service and delivery. Integral to this is a commitment to ensure the most effective and efficient use of resources and to enhance the force 

capability in support to the vulnerability agenda and drive to deliver outstanding service in relation to vulnerability. Within this work, the recognition of effective partnership 

working in order to achieve the ambition of outstanding is explicit. 

P
age 90



During 2019/20 The Dorset & Wiltshire Fire and Rescue Service have reviewed their safeguarding procedures to make the clearer and easier to follow. This includes bookmarking 

links, chart of responsibilities and easy to follow flow charts.  Additions to the procedure includes handling confidential information and Personal Information Sharing Agreement 

(PISA). The safeguarding referral form is now available electronically, the form is more intuitive, auto populating in some areas and offers information text boxes to help with 

completion. The form is automatically sent to the services safeguarding email upon completion preventing possible barriers to referring or data breaches. In line with the Care Act 

(2014) there is also a question about what the person wants from the referral (Making Safeguarding Personal). 

The Service’s procedures adopts a ‘whole system approach’ to adult and children’s safeguarding and they are reflective of our key principles.  Safeguarding arrangements are 

delivered via a broad spectrum of activities. This includes –

• support and promotion of both national and local safety campaigns

• specific intervention such as operational incidents, safe and well visits, fire setter programmes and other children and young people programmes

• Multi-agency training and awareness

• Through formal safeguarding arrangements, in partnership with local authority safeguarding teams and other key agencies. 

• Circulating resources such as posters and prompt cards. 

By working closely with other agencies, we can utilise information sharing to keep vulnerable persons safe and to keep others safe, including Service staff.

Formal safeguarding arrangements are developed and delivered predominantly by the Safeguarding Lead who is responsible for supporting the organisation in its policy 

commitment to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of young people and adults at risk.  The focus of the role is to provide professional, accessible and reliable advice and 

guidance to staff relating to safeguarding concerns and practice.  This also includes making sure we conform to relevant legislation, that we reflect organisational and local 

authority policy and procedures and best practice to ensure continuous improvement through embedding safeguarding standards across the organisation.

The role is also crucial in making sure that we develop and establish good working relationships with partner agencies and local authorities.  This allows us to effectively raise 

safeguards with local services and arrange extra support for the referrals that do not meet the safeguard thresholds by knowing when to sign post and when to call 999.  By 

arranging extra support, we are ensuring that the most vulnerable people in our area receive early intervention and support, with the aim of preventing the concerns from 

escalating, improving well-being as well as possibly saving money across the health and welfare system. A safeguarding information page is available on Connect (the Services 

intranet) where additional information and tool kits can be accessed. 

To ensure organisational resilience, we have a Single Point of Contact (SPOC), Safeguarding Lead and Deputy Safeguarding Leads. Cover is available 24 hours a day, 365 days a year 

by the Duty Area Manager who is contactable through Fire Control.  Group/Area Managers give strategic management representation on all local Safeguarding Boards. 

P
age 91



We also have representation on a self-neglect/hoarding panel which sets out the shared understanding across key agencies of how we jointly respond to very serious 

situations of adult self-neglect.  The aim is to prevent death or serious injury by ensuring there is a shared multi-agency understanding and recognition of issues involved in 

working with individuals who self-neglect and to make sure there is effective multi-agency working and practice in place which enables agencies to uphold their duty of care.  

We have worked with ‘You Trust’ which is a charity that supports vulnerable people working with a wide range of specialist areas from learning disabilities to mental health 

and domestic violence and abuse Services.  Key staff have received training in domestic abuse and have become Domestic Abuse Champions so they can offer guidance to 

those experiencing domestic abuse. 

Contact has been made with all surrounding Fire and Rescue Service (FRS) Safeguarding leads as crews are increasingly attending calls outside of our service area.  This is to 

ensure crews are aware that they should follow their own respective organisational procedures and the local FRS Safeguarding lead will direct any referrals as appropriate. The 

intention is to prevent confusion and any safeguarding concerns being missed.  The Safeguarding Lead hosts and chairs meetings with Devon and Somerset FRS, Hampshire 

FRS, Royal Berkshire FRS and Avon FRS Safeguarding Leads three to four times a year to share best practice. The meetings are useful, not only from the perspective of 

reviewing current practice, but also to remind us that the issues we face are common to us all. 

We provide locality base evidence of what we are involved in and report progress and opportunities to Members through Local Performance and Scrutiny Committees on a 

quarterly basis.  This is also reported to the Authority on a six-monthly and annual basis.

Assurances have also been provided on recent financial abuse and domestic abuse audit reports to Swindon Local Safeguarding Adults Board.  Quarterly reports are 

completed on performance headlines and emerging issues.  The Board monitors the key performance information which helps demonstrate the effectiveness of the 

partnership’s safeguarding activity. Each quarter focuses on a different topic. 

3 years refresher training took place this year. The interesting training was developed by the Safeguarding Lead and a Local Safeguarding Trainer/ Social Worker and has been 

well accepted and proven to be a great success. The feedback and buy-in from staff have been outstanding and this has resulted in programmed training that ensures that all 

key personnel dealing with young people and the public have carried out level 2 safeguarding training, and that this training is delivered consistently. 

The Learning & Organisational Development Adviser and the Safeguarding Lead  meet two to three times a year to ensure we are meeting our stated training requirements 

and we continue to look at how we can improve the evaluation of the training that is delivered to ensure the consistency and application of our procedure in practice. This has 

also led to the Safeguarding Lead being invited onto a local authority group and invites to sessions to train the trainer which cover new learning and legal updates.

Our safeguarding e-learning has recently been updated and supports our other means of training and allows us to monitor understanding.  The training that has been put in 

place crucially serves to highlight that safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility and keeps all staff up to date with changes such as modern slavery, forced marriage, female 

genital mutilation, child sexual exploitation and radicalisation.  

P
age 92



The Safeguarding Lead has also completed additional training, including Safeguarding Essential Training, Information Asset Owner training (storing of confidential 

information), Serious Case Review, Managing Incident training, Managing Allegations, Hoarding and a Policies and Procedures workshop.  Training has also been completed 

on General Data Protection Regulations as the safeguarding information we hold is some of the most sensitive that is held within the Service and is therefore recorded as 

‘Official Sensitive’.  

We have ensured we work closely in partnership with South West Ambulance Service Foundation Trust (SWASFT) and the police forces that serve our area of responsibility.  

If either the ambulance service or the police visit a property and think that there is a fire risk, or some fire intervention is required, this goes to the Safe and Well Lead to 

disseminate and make sure it is managed internally and they also feed back any outcomes to the referring agency.  Working with other agencies allows better access and 

management of fire risks for individuals with care and support needs and raises the awareness and training around identifying and managing fire risks in domestic dwellings 

and the built environment.  The Safeguarding Lead has also worked closely with the named professional from SWASFT on hoax calls and frequent callers.  This led to a 

monthly report of frequent callers being set up. 

The Safeguarding Lead also contributes to the NFCC (National Fire Chiefs Council) Safeguarding Co-ordination Workstream.  The purpose of the workstream is to provide 

direction for the NFCC in relation to safeguarding children and adults at risk to ensure the NFCC complies with government legislation and guidance.  This also supports the 

Service in aligning local and national policy.

P
age 93



The National Probation Service in Dorset is committed to the Safeguarding Adults agenda and implements new policy and procedures, sends staff on appropriate training 

and undertakes a number of Quality Assurance activities as well as making appropriate referrals.

The National Probation Service engages in joint working with other agencies through Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA), Multi Agency Risk Assessment 

Conferences (MARAC), Stalking Clinics and Professionals Meetings. Staff seek to support victims and perpetrators in order to reduce safeguarding concerns.

Appropriate use of recall, licence variation conditions and breach of community orders support prevention and safeguarding.

National Probation Service staff work to support vulnerable victims of crime and to seek to reduce the risks of serious harm by perpetrators by use of one to one work and 

appropriate group interventions while recognising that some of these adults may have dual roles of perpetrator and victim.

• Staff undertake training in Domestic Abuse and Safeguarding.

• Staff make referrals into the local authority Adult Safeguarding team in relation to adults they are working with and engage in joint working and use of Care Act referrals.

• The National Probation Service cooperates fully with the Safeguarding Adult Review (SAR) procedures in relation to known offenders, sits on panels and implements 

learning from all SAR’s. 

• This year the National Probation Service has made a particular contribution to ongoing joint reviews.

• Senior management from the National Probation Service contribute to various Pan Dorset boards which seek to support adult safeguarding including MAPPA, and the 

Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Groups. The Head of Service in Dorset seeks to ensure full engagement and integration across the various boards to support linked 

up thinking and deliver statutory responsibilities.

P
age 94



Adult Safeguarding at HMP The Verne – Portland

HMP the Verne has a responsibility to deliver a duty of care to all of our residents. In prisons, ‘Safer Custody’ and ‘Risk of Harm’ have, historically, tended to be the language 

used when discussing issues of safety and the term ‘Safeguarding’ has often been left open for interpretation.

In our first year of operating, our aim has been to address these issues by clearly defining, communicating and implementing our policy in respect of safeguarding adults 

within our establishment: The key principles which inform the ways in which Prison and Probation Service staff and all other stakeholders work with our residents are as 

follows: 

Defining what is meant by ‘Safeguarding’

Identifying an individual’s need

Assessing Social Care needs

Systems for reporting suspected abuse and neglect

Systems for responding to suspected abuse and neglect.

Sharing safeguarding information.

We endeavour to provide a safe and secure environment through the introduction of processes which promote the protection of people who are at significant risk of serious 

harm. A fundamental aspect of our duty of care is to offer our residents this protection when it is needed. Residents who are unable to protect themselves, as a result of 

personal care and support needs, are provided with this same level of protection that is equivalent to that which would be provided in the Community. This may be by 

reason of mental or other disability, age or illness; and who is or may be unable to take care of him or herself, or unable to protect him or herself against significant harm or 

exploitation.

Common characteristics of an adult at risk in a Prison environment include:

• Insufficient, variable or fluctuating capacity to make decisions about their own safety

• Communication difficulties

• Physical dependency on others for personal care and activities of daily life

• Experience of abuse as an adult or child

P
age 95



• Being cared for in a care setting, that is, more or less dependent on others

• Not getting the right level or appropriate care needed

• Isolation and social exclusion, low self esteem.

• Stigma and discrimination

• Lack of access to information and support

• Being the focus of anti-social behaviour.

Safeguarding interventions may be required in the following circumstances –

• Residents with care and support needs

• Residents with learning disabilities

• Residents with diminished mental capacity, as defined in the Mental Capacity Act 2005

• Residents who habitually remain within their rooms and/or have few possessions

• Residents who are purchasing items for others and/or swapping property

• Residents who repeatedly break prison rules (this can be due to a lack of cognitive capacity and/or an inability to read notices rather than disobedience – safeguarding 

issues may easily be confused with a discipline problem).

At HMP the Verne, the Reception and First Night Centre processes are crucial in identifying an individual’s needs. Our induction process ensures that all residents are 

assessed for potential harm to themselves, to others (and from others). 

All historic documentation and information that arrives with the resident is interrogated by operational staff 

Personal interviews are held with the resident at Reception front desk

Initial healthcare screening is conducted, including a detailed medical examination that includes an assessment of self-harm and safer custody concerns. 

Our Residential Services play a key role in ensuring that residents are supported and their daily needs are met. Following progression from Reception/ Induction, residential 

staff and healthcare have a key role in spotting any signs of distress, anxiety, anger or other abnormal behaviour which might lead to residents harming themselves.

P
age 96



We have been careful to ensure that our staff and residents are aware that Social care is different from health care and, as such is the responsibility of our local authority, not 

the NHS. 

Since April 2015, under the Care Act (2014) local authorities in England who have a prison and or approved premises within their geographical area will be responsible for 

assessing and meeting the eligible social care and support needs of adult residents detained in prisons. We have defined this as the care and support which enables people to 

retain their independence and dignity when they are ill, disabled, or infirm through old age. We have a large percentage of elderly residents and residents with disabilities at 

The Verne and these have been found to be most likely to need assistance

The Verne continues to work closely with Dorset Council to identify those individuals who need help and to provide care workers for residents who are eligible to have their 

care needs met. We strive to ensure an equal system is in place whereby our residents receive an equal level of support to that which is provided to other residents in Dorset.

Case management information regarding incidents of abuse and neglect by others (and actions taken in response to them) is shared with:

• Other organisations with safeguarding responsibilities for the offender concerned, such as health and social care providers;

• Those with responsibility for safeguarding the individual in the community on release, including approved premises staff and the relevant local authority.

This is achieved by holding regular safeguarding meetings chaired by the functional head responsible and with representation from all relevant areas of the establishment and 

partner agencies. Specific cases are discussed, and partnership working is reviewed. We recognise that it is important that all reports of suspected abuse or neglect are treated 

seriously. We have ensured that there are various processes in place to follow with the aims of:

• Preventing further abuse or neglect

• Supporting and protecting victims, witnesses and reporters

• Investigating whether or not the suspected abuse or neglect took place

• Ensuring that appropriate sanctions are applied to the perpetrator(s).

P
age 97



Abuse is wrong 

Tell someone

•Residents in the Dorset Council area call – 01305 221016

•Christchurch and Bournemouth Residents call – 01202 454979

•Poole Residents call the Adult Social Care help desk – 01202 

633902

•If outside of normal office hours, please call the Out of Hours 

Service on 01305 858250

If you think someone is at immediate risk of harm contact the Police 

by calling 999.

You can also tell a health or social care worker such as a Social 

Worker, Nurse, Doctor or Occupational Therapist

See It?

Hear It?

Report It?

P
age 98



 

 

                                                         

 

 

Dorset Safeguarding Adults Board 

Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole 

Safeguarding Adults Board 

Joint Business Plan 2020-22 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                      Version:  25.09.2020 - Final  

Page 99



 

 

Dorset, Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole  

Safeguarding Adults Boards 

Joint business plan 2020 onwards 

 

 

Introduction 

The scope of adult safeguarding is broad and it is therefore often difficult to prioritise 

certain areas of work to the exclusion of others. This year the exercise of building a business 

plan has been hampered by the Covid-19 pandemic which has absorbed the energies of key 

partners and delayed the final agreement of a plan. The pandemic itself has realigned 

priorities, introducing new concerns but also potentially exacerbating issues which the 

Boards already considered important. 

The priorities set out below have been discussed at meetings of each Board and finalised in 

conjunction with members of the Executive Group. They are also based upon evaluation of 

safeguarding data, which is being kept under review during Covid-19, and identification of 

key risks emerging from and during the pandemic.  

A larger number of actions in the plan this year involve seeking assurance from member 

organisations or other partnerships, where the safeguarding of adults at risk falls within an 

area of their responsibility. 

It is likely that priorities will need to be reviewed and/or the timescale for completion of 

objectives lengthened as the year progresses. 

 

Priority themes 

 

Safeguarding in the care sector 

A high proportion of safeguarding concerns already emanate from the care sector which 

has been particularly affected by Covid-19. The SABs have a role alongside others in 

monitoring safety in and contributing to support plans for the sector.  A significant 

amount of work has been undertaken by partners in response to the pandemic and each 

local authority has produced a support plan and action plan in relation to care homes in 

its area. 

It is planned to hold a special joint meeting of the SABs in October. This will be a 

reflective learning event with a focus on preventing future harm particularly in the light 

of concerns about spikes in Covid-19 during the winter period when the health and care 

system is annually under stress.  

There have so far been no referrals for SARs in respect of deaths in care homes. 

Page 100



 

 

Domestic abuse   

This is a continuing priority for the SABs. “Both local domestic abuse and safeguarding 

adults’ protocols will apply to situations where a person who has care and support 

needs that prevent them from safeguarding themselves is experiencing domestic 

abuse.” (Domestic Abuse Statutory Guidance Framework) 

Community Safety Partnerships have lead responsibility for responding to domestic 

abuse. However as Domestic Homicide and Safeguarding Adult Reviews continue to 

show, the two systems are not sufficiently coordinated when responding to adults with 

care and support needs.  

The Boards have recognised that domestic abuse has not always been acknowledged as 

a factor in relationships between older partners or in familial abuse, whilst during the 

recent ‘lockdown’ the impact of carer stress contributing to DA may have increased.   

Following Local Government Reorganisation separate domestic abuse strategies are 

being developed in the two CSPs, which may lead to each SAB having local as well as 

joint initiatives in respect of domestic abuse. 

Neglect and self-neglect  

 It is a continuing priority for the SABs to better analyse and segment the data on 

‘neglect and acts of omission’ which is the largest type of safeguarding concern 

recorded. This is already leading to exploration of opportunities for preventative actions, 

e.g. in respect of medicine management. The forthcoming audit of Multi Agency Risk 

Management Meetings (MARMs) will shed more light on the effectiveness of responses 

to this theme. 

Self-neglect is emerging as the most prominent type of abuse or neglect in a current 

national study of Safeguarding Adult Reviews. Additionally there is a potential increasing 

risk of self-neglect from the impact of isolation and unexpected bereavement as a result 

of Covid-19. The SAR sub-group has recently been reviewing more cases of suicide. 

SAB Governance Review  

It is acknowledged that an overarching governance structure for safeguarding in its 

widest sense would help to mitigate the risk of duplication across partnerships and lead 

to better coordination of scarce resources. Different models of governance which bring 

together the responsibilities of children’s and adult safeguarding and community safety 

are being implemented in some authorities. The SAB review, which commenced with an 

independent report in October 2019 following Local Government Reorganisation, was 

paused in March. There is now a need to integrate into our planning  

• Learning from how the safeguarding system as a whole has responded to the 

pandemic 

• The pattern of new safeguarding risks and needs that are resulting from it 

Page 101



 

 

The independent review was valuable in that it gave an impartial view of current 

safeguarding arrangements. The author commented positively on the work of the 

subgroups and Board staff. The introduction of multi-agency risk management meetings 

(MARMs) had been an important initiative. The development and maintenance of pan 

Dorset policies and procedures was highly valued. Safeguarding Adult Reviews were 

rigorously considered and action plans followed up well.  

However the reviewer also commented that there was infrequent evidence of challenge 

in Board meetings. Analysis of data was limited and therefore the Boards do not have 

sufficient line of sight into the quality of front line practice. Time could be saved for the 

pan-Dorset agencies by reshaping Board meeting agendas.  

The Boards’ quality assurance subgroup is therefore reshaping its approach to improve 

line of sight into practice. During the coming year it will 

• Review member organisations’ own quality assurance frameworks and 

disseminate outcomes and learning from individual agency audits 

• Use safeguarding data to focus upon themes that require a multi-agency ‘dip 

sample’ audit and 

• Complete the audit into MARMs to assure the Boards that the guidance for these 

meetings is being correctly applied in practice 

Different formats for Board meetings are being tried to reduce duplication whilst 

providing a more in-depth discussion of safeguarding at a locality level. 

 

Associated themes contained in the workplan 

 

Implementation of learning arising from SARs/DHRs and LeDeR reviews 

Forthcoming reviews will highlight the need for better coordination with MAPPA to 

manage high risk offenders including   

• To clarify understanding and use of different risk management meeting structures 

• To develop capability to manage complex and potentially dangerous individuals, 

some of whom will also have care and support needs 

• For ‘duty to cooperate’ agencies to fully carry out their responsibilities for 

supervision of level 1 MAPPA offenders 

Exploitation 

This is an area led by the Community Safety Partnerships but SAB partners will seek to 

understand better the impact upon individuals with care and support needs and respond 

appropriately. 

Page 102



 

 

Homelessness  

Following a homicide in Dorset there will be an opportunity to identify system learning 

from the death of a homeless person temporarily placed in a hotel in Weymouth. Board 

members will need to engage with any safeguarding issues for rough sleepers if any 

choose or have to return to the street after living in temporary Covid-19 

accommodation.  

Substance Misuse  

In conjunction with Public Health both Boards have already committed to being involved 

in the national project on Safeguarding Vulnerable Dependent Drinkers. 

 

Detailed objectives are included in the Boards’ workplan which links with the plans of the 4 

subgroups and will be reviewed quarterly. 

 

 

Barrie Crook 

Independent Chair 

September 2020 

 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



Dorset Health and Wellbeing Board
11 November 2020
Delayed Transfers of Care Performance 
during Covid-19
Choose an item.

Portfolio Holder: Choose an item.

Local Councillor(s):

Executive Director: Choose an item.
 

Report Author: Sue Sutton
Title: Programme Director Urgent & Emergency Care
Tel 07867 351718
Email: sue.sutton@dorsetccg.nhs.uksue.sutton@dorsetccg.nhs.uk 

Report Status:  Choose an item.

Recommendation:

Reason for Recommendation:     

1. Executive Summary 

1.1 The performance relating to Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) during 
the first wave of Covid-19 is difficult due to changes in reporting 
requirements. We are defining the first wave as February – June 2020 
for the purposes of this report. This report will detail the DTOC data 
available, the reasons why Length of Stay (LOS) information will need 
to be used instead of DTOC, and the value of LOS going forward for 
comparisons.

1.2 The second part of this report will provide information regarding the 
new Home First Programme, it’s processes and the Pathways. Home 
First commenced on 1 October 2020 and therefore no data is available 
to show its performance to date, and therefore the impact the new 
initiative has made in Dorset as yet.

Page 105

Agenda Item 11

mailto:sue.sutton@dorsetccg.nhs.uk


2. Financial Implications

Not applicable.

  
3. Climate implications

Not applicable.

4. Other Implications

Not applicable.

5. Risk Assessment

Having considered the risks associated with this decision, the level of risk has 
been identified as: None
Current Risk: None
Residual Risk: None

6. Equalities Impact Assessment

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Not applicable

8. Background Papers

Not applicable

9. Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC)

9.1 DTOC information was being collected from the acute hospitals 
nationally until January 2020. The decision was taken by NHS England 
to cease the collection of this data and its publication due to Covid-19. 
Initially this was stopped until 30 June, however this was extended until 
30 September 2020. They have continued to pause the collection of 
this data for the remainder of this financial year. This means that it 
would not be possible to compare data like-for-like with previous years 
or if re-introduced, future years.

Page 106



9.2 As DTOC information is not available, this report is focused on Length 
of Stay (LOS) data as this continued to be collected during the time of 
the first wave of Covid-19. The benefit of using LOS data is that it is 
comparable for the same period in 2019, and will be comparable with a 
second wave of Covid-19 and/or future periods of time.

9.3 LOS is defined as the duration of a single episode of hospitalisation. 
Inpatient days are calculated by subtracting day of admission from day 
of discharge. The target figure for LOS is 21 calendar days and 
therefore any patient staying in hospital over this target duration will be 
reported into the LOS figures with the number of additional days in 
hospital.

9.4 The LOS data available is split by acute hospital and therefore does 
not split by Local Authority area, meaning that there will be Dorset 
Council residents appearing in all three acute hospital figures, but they 
will also contain Bournemouth, Christchurch & Poole (BCP) Council 
residents. The data provided will therefore show data from these three 
acute hospitals only and excludes Dorset/ BCP residents in Yeovil 
District Hospital and Salisbury General Hospital. Please note it also 
excludes those patients in community hospitals.

9.5 Tables 1 and 2 shows the LOS data split by acute hospital and by 
month from January to June 2019, and January to June 2020. This 
data therefore shows the differences in LOS as a direct comparison of 
the same months in 2019 and 2020, with Covid-19 only being present 
in 2020. Table 2 is colour-coded to show whether the LOS data is 
higher (red) or lower (green) in 2020 compared to 2019.

 01/01/2019 01/02/2019 10/03/2019 01/04/2019 01/05/2019 01/06/2019 Total
DCH 77 54 75 82 81 64 433
PHT 111 134 142 126 133 121 767
RBH 113 97 115 111 110 89 635
Grand 
Total 301 285 332 319 324 274 1835

Table 1 – LOS by acute hospital 2019

 01/01/2020 01/02/2020 10/03/2020 01/04/2020 01/05/2020 01/06/2020 Total
DCH 83 57 80 35 28 37 320
PHT 137 133 157 55 34 61 577
RBH 105 95 109 40 39 50 438
Grand 
Total 325 285 346 130 101 148 1335

Table 2 – LOS by acute hospital 2020 (coloured showing difference in 
values)

Page 107



9.6 In January - March 2020, there were increases in the number of days 
exceeding the 21-day target at DCH by 14 days overall compared to 
2019 in the same period. For the same period, PHT had an increase of 
40 days. However, RBH saw a decrease of 16 days. The total increase 
therefore for 2020 was 38 days compared to 2019 for this same period.

9.7 From April – June 2020, there were significant decreases in LOS 
across all the acute hospitals and also significant decreases compared 
to the same period in 2019. At DCH there was a 56% reduction in 
LOS; at PHT there was a 60% reduction in LOS; and at RBH a 61% 
reduction. Overall there was a 59% reduction in LOS across the three 
acute hospitals for this time period.

9.8 The explanation for the reduction in LOS from April 2020 can be 
correlated with the local and national response to the Covid-19 
pandemic.

10. Home First

10.1 The Home First Programme was implemented across Dorset on 1 
October 2020 as a Discharge to Assess (D2A) model with the focus on 
attempting to discharge patients from acute hospitals to their own 
home, if this is appropriate and safe. Discharge planning should start 
to take place for patients at the time of their admission to enable this 
approach to work successfully. Staying in hospital for longer than 
necessary has a negative impact on patient outcomes. Ensuring that 
patients are given the chance to continue their lives at home is vital for 
their long-term wellbeing outcomes.

10.2 Significant work has been undertaken in Dorset to create a new and 
integrated model for discharge to assess, where people can be 
discharged from hospital in a timely manner and receive services that 
will optimise their ability. The next stage of the Home First Programme 
is to include admission avoidance as well as supported hospital 
discharge

10.3 There are a number of Pathways that patients will be assigned to 
based on their needs:

Page 108



10.4 The Hospital Services Discharge Policy (2020) details the expected 
proportions of patients by pathway and the expected outcomes for 
these patients:

Expected outcomes on discharge from hospital:  
• 65% of people will require no further care.  
• 35% of people will require an ongoing package of care.  
Of those 35% of people who receive ongoing care, it is expected that 
10% will require a package of lower intensity than at the start of 
recovery, and will have either an NHS CHC, or Care Act assessment.  

Urgent community response and intermediate care to deliver extra 
support in a person’s own home where possible.
  
If another care setting is required, the end point is to get people home 
as soon and as safely as possible.   

For those admitted to an acute hospital, 95% are expected to be 
discharged home as default. The discharge to assess model sets out 4 
pathways:  

 50% of people are expected to be discharged home with 
voluntary and community support.

 45% of people are expected to be discharged home with up 
to six weeks recovery support from health and social care 
services, to maximise their independence and stay home for 
longer.

 4% of people are expected to be discharged to bedded 
rehabilitation settings to support their return home.  

Page 109



 1% of people are expected to be discharged into long-term 
care settings, such as a care home.  

10.5   A PowerPoint presentation regarding Home First has also been 
submitted and should be read in conjunction with this report as further 
detail is included.

Footnote:
Issues relating to financial, legal, environmental, economic and equalities 
implications have been considered and any information relevant to the decision is 
included within the report.

Page 110


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Update on a Physical Activity Strategy for Dorset
	Physical Activity Update - Appendix

	7 Draft Health and Wellbeing Strategy
	Dorset Council Health and wellbeing strategy

	8 Local Government Social Care Ombudsman SEND Progress Report
	9 Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report
	DSAB appendix 1
	DSAB Appendix 2

	11 Delayed Transfers of Care Performance during Covid-19 (Home First)

